
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Finance and Audit 
Committee

Members of the Finance and Audit Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned 
to attend a meeting to be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on Tuesday, 
11 June 2019 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be 
transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 10)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public. 

5. Annual Audit & Counter Fraud Report 2018-19 (Pages 11 - 56)

6. Results of Audit & Counter Fraud Satisfaction Survey (Pages 57 - 78)

7. Annual Treasury Management Review 2018-19 (Pages 79 - 94)

8. Annual Governance Statement: 2018-19 (Pages 95 - 
108)

To seek approval from Members of the Finance and Audit Committee of 
the Annual Governance Statement for the 2018-19 financial year. 



9. Audit Fee Letter 2019-20 (Pages 109 - 
116)

10.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

11.Exclusion of the public 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 

Part B
Items likely to be considered in private

None. 

Members

Cllr Gurbax Singh (Chair)
Cllr Colin Caller (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Derek Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Dakota Dibben
Sarah Gow
Nirmal Khabra
Ruth Martin
Tony Rice

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Finance & Audit Committee
 

Tuesday, 12 March 2019                                        7:30pm 

Present:

Cllr Lenny Rolles (Chair)
Cllr William Lambert (Vice-Chair)  

Cllrs: John Burden 
Leslie Hills  
Samir Jassal (Sub)  
Shane Mochrie-Cox 
Peter Rayner 
Robin Theobald  

Sarah Parfitt Assistant Director (Corporate Services)
James Larkin Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services  
Andrew Barnett 
Elizabeth Jackson

Principal Accountant (General Fund)  
External Auditors, Grant Thornton  

Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant (Minutes) 

99. Apologies for absence 

An apology of absence was received from Cllr Karen Hurdle. Cllr Samir Jassal substituted. 

100. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting on Monday, 18 February 2019 were signed by the Chair. 

101. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr John Burden declared an interest on item 4 ‘2018-19 External Audit Plan’ as he is a 
Member on the Kent Superannuation Fund Committee

102. 2018-19 External Audit Plan 

Members were informed of the planned work of the external auditor in conducting their audit 
of the Council’s Statement of Accounts 2018-19.

The External Auditor, Grant Thornton advised that the auditors had completed their interim 
fieldwork visit and provided a short report on their conclusions which was attached at 
Appendix Three for Members information. 

The External Auditor, Grant Thornton, outlined to Members that three significant risks 
requiring special audit consideration and procedures to address the likelihood of a material 
financial statement error had been identified. The reasons for their risk identification were 
explained on page 22 of the report:  

• Management override of controls

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Finance and Audit Committee 12.03.2019

2

• Valuation of property, plant and equipment 

• Valuation of pension fund net liability

The External Auditor, Grant Thornton, further explained that: 

 The level of materiality for the council was slightly lower than in previous years due to 
decreased expenditure by the council. In giving the audit opinion, it must be 
determined if the accounts are true so materiality had to be calculated; Grant 
Thornton determined Gravesham’s planning materiality to be £1.50m (PY £1.59m), 
which equated to 2% of the prior year’s gross expenditure for the year. Grant 
Thornton were obliged to report uncorrected omissions or misstatements other than 
those which were ‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with governance. For Gravesham 
Borough Council, the ‘clearly trivial’ figure was set at £75K (PY £85K) 

 The risk assessment regarding Council arrangements to secure value for money has 
identified Brexit as a VFM risk; all local authorities in Kent have Brexit as a risk as 
Grant Thornton have to recognise the potential risks Kent faces depending on the 
outcome of the Brexit vote. Grant Thornton will review GBC's arrangements and 
plans in place to mitigate any risks relating to Brexit. The review will focus on areas 
such as workforce planning, supply chain analysis, regulatory impact and impacts on 
finances including investments 

 With regards to the Audit Logistics a timetable has been agreed that the final visit will 
take place between June and July 2019 in order to meet the Finance & Audit 
Committee report deadlines. The total fee for the external auditing has decreased by 
25% due to the procurement exercise undertaken by PSAA 

The Committee raised concern over the technical jargon used throughout the report; 
Members felt that Councillors that were new to the Committee after the May elections would 
have trouble understanding it. It was understood that legally some of the technical terms had 
to be used but the Committee asked that a ‘laymen’s terms’ explanation also be included so 
that it could be universally understood by both Members and the public. 

The External Auditor, Grant Thornton advised that she would feed that comment back to her 
team for future reporting. 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) agreed with the Members sentiment to assist 
new Members, adding that officers of the council will provide training on financial areas of 
the Committee. The Committee handbook will also be updated to make sure all Members 
are well equipped in their role. 

Resolved that Members noted the information contained within the report. 

103. Review of Accounting Policies 2018-19 

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) sought endorsement of the Accounting Policies to 
be used in formulating the Financial Statements for the authority for the financial year 2018-
19.

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) stated that the Code for 2018-19 had been 
published and a review of the Council’s accounting policies had been conducted to ensure 
that they were in line with the requirements of The Code.

Page 4



Finance and Audit Committee 12.03.2019

3

There were two main changes to the Code that were identified as being of influence to the 
council’s accounting policies for 2018-19, principally from new International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs). They concern the adoption of IFRS9 - Financial Instruments, 
and IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Other accounting policies 
remained in line with those used to prepare the 2018-19 Statement of Accounts. A summary 
of the changes to IFRS15 and IFRS9 could be found on paragraph 2.2, page 38 of the 
report. 

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) informed Members that the accounting policies 
had been shared with the external auditors and may therefore be subject to any comments / 
feedback from the Council’s external auditors. Any material changes to the accounting 
policies subsequently found to be necessary will be accompanied by an explanation of the 
impact of the change in policy within the financial statements.

The External Auditor, Grant Thornton, clarified that she was happy with the Accounting 
Policies 2018-19 as they were set out following the standard CIPFA guidance. A briefing 
paper will be written up, in conjunction with Gravesham officers, on the two changes (IFRS9 
and IFRS15) as they are management judgements that will be used in making decisions to 
produce the accounts. The briefing paper will be used to help audit the accounts as it will 
advise what has been carried out and the explanations for those decisions. It will be shared 
with the auditors to provide them with assurance that the Council have properly considered 
the new CIPFA Code requirements and are compliant with them.  

Concern was again raised by the Committee that the report had too much technical jargon; 
they asked that in future the reports be written up in terms that the whole Committee could 
understand so that Members could make informed decisions. 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised that there will be a training session on 
the Statement of Accounts in July 2019 that will take Members through the accounts in a 
manner that is intended to be both understandable and meaningful to them. 

Regarding IFRS9 – Financial Instruments, the Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 
fielded questions explaining that: 

 The IFRS9 changes do not affect commercial property that the Council purchases 
and the Standard doesn’t capture anything through the Property Acquisition Strategy. 
It seeks to reclassify the investments the Council has made and make an 
assessment of risk associated with different financial instruments. The financial 
instruments captured by the IFRS9 that will result in the most significant accounting 
changes will be the multi asset funds and property funds. The Government 
introduced a five-year statutory override for local authorities so it won’t affect the 
‘bottom line’ of the General Fund in any way for five years but the council will be 
required to follow the accounting requirements of the Standard and if the override 
was removed after five years as currently proposed, the council would need to review 
its investment in these types of financial instrument. 

 The Funding Managers have their own financial regulations and auditing 
requirements that they have to follow to ensure the information they have produced is 
accurate 

 It would be unlikely that the Council would disagree with the final valuation as 
monthly statements are received monthly and the information is constantly monitored 
for any irregularities. Those statements provide the Council with a degree of narrative 
during the specified time period on what has happened with the investments. If there 

Page 5



Finance and Audit Committee 12.03.2019

4

was anything that the Council did not agree with, then the opportunity to discuss it 
with the Funding Managers would be after the monthly statements. But ultimately, 
GBC rely on their checks and balances to ensure that they are valuing the Council’s 
assets appropriately. However, Members were assured that the Council was seeking 
to improve their own monitoring arrangements for the property funds, multi-assets 
funds and the property portfolio as a whole due to the increased exposure than in 
previous years 

 Members were able to seek out information on the Council’s investments from the 
quarterly Budget Monitoring Reports that are brought to the Finance & Audit 
Committee; the information provided in those reports could be openly challenged and 
scrutinised by Members at each Committee meeting. During those discussions, the 
Committee would be able to consider if the investments were still providing adequate 
financial security for the Council and raise any concerns.

Comment was made by a Member over the investment strategy and the opportunity to 
increase Member involvement; he suggested that the Chairman receive more frequent 
updates about how the investments were faring. In turn, the funds would be monitored more 
closely and the Chairman could call emergency Finance & Audit Committee meetings as the 
investment funds change frequently in small periods of time and could require readjusting. 

Resolved that Members endorsed the use of the Accounting Policies as outlined at 
Appendix Two to the report, subject to comments from the Council’s external auditor.

104. Audit & Counter Fraud Charter 

The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services sought Member approval for the Audit 
& Counter Fraud Charter. 

The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services explained that a full review of the 
charter had been undertaken and whilst there were no fundamental changes to the content, 
a number of changes to the wording were made to reflect the new wording of a CIPFA Local 
Government Advice Note issued on 28 Feb 2019 to clearly demonstrate that the Council met 
the requirements. A copy of the charter was provided at Appendix 2 and the amendments 
were shown as tracked changes for ease of reference.

After a short discussion on the removal of some key points from the Charter, the Head of 
Audit & Counter Fraud Services agreed that he would add ‘The service will also have direct 
access to the Chairs of the Audit Committees’ back into the Audit & Counter Fraud Charter. 

The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services advised that he reports to both Section 
151 officers at Gravesham and Medway Councils; he assured Members that the two officers 
regularly met with each other and any issues that arise from either Council would be 
discussed or brought to their attention very quickly.    

The Committee thanked the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services for including 
the actual tracked changes within the report as it was very useful and made it easier for 
Members to physically see what had been amended in the report.  

Resolved that Members approved the Audit & Counter Fraud Charter subject to the 
aforementioned amendments.   

Page 6



Finance and Audit Committee 12.03.2019

5

105. Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 2019-20 

The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services sought Member approval for the Audit 
& Counter Fraud 2019-20 Plan for Gravesham which was attached at appendix 2. 

The plan had been prepared in line with the requirements of the Standards and was based 
on a cyclical programme of core financial and governance activities as well as a risk 
assessment to ensure the team’s resources were directed to the highest areas of risk.

In response to a Members concerns over officers using qualitative and quantitative data 
appropriately and an evaluation on the actual concept of shared arrangements in the next 
quarter, the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services advised that: 

 With regard to shared working arrangements, in item three of the report, the Audit 
Team sets out their responsibilities and states that they will be carrying out a review 
of partnership frameworks and shared working arrangements to ensure everything is 
in place and beneficial to the Council  

 He would feed back the comment, ensuring qualitative and quantitative data is 
captured during the data collection, to the auditor that will be carrying out that piece 
of work 

The Committee queried ten days of resources being allocated to review the Councils 
Constitution as a number of changes to the Constitution had previously been agreed at the 
meeting of Full Council on Tuesday, 26 February 2019. It was suggested that that ten day 
allocation would be better served reviewing the Planning Department and their processes. 

The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services directed Members attention to ‘Ref 1’ 
on page 74 advising them that the Audit Team were required to review the Constitution 
under the review of the Councils corporate governance arrangements on a periodic basis. 
The review isn’t looking at the Constitution itself but rather the controls and processes 
behind the Constitution to ensure they are still effective and carried out properly. 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Series) added that a series of changes had been made to 
the Constitution but there was still much work to do; the Council is conducting a 
comprehensive review of the Constitution, the outcomes of which would be passed through 
Full Council, which would ensure Member involvement.

On the matter of Planning, the Corporate Performance Team will be reviewing the processes 
of the department as part of the SRT Review options which aimed to review the 
effectiveness and efficiency of the planning service.  An external review was conducted but 
internally the Corporate Performance Team will be directed to carry out process reviews 
which will identify opportunities to change some of the processes currently followed by the 
planning team. The changes will seek to increase efficiency across the department. 

A short discussion was had in response to the Chairs question on the shared working 
arrangements with Medway and the recent issue that was still being investigated with the 
CCTV shared service. The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised Members that 
the investigation was still ongoing and there was no update to provide Members. The 
Assistant Director (Corporate Services) committed to give a full update to the Committee as 
soon as it became available. 

Page 7



Finance and Audit Committee 12.03.2019

6

Concern was raised by the Committee over shared services and the control mechanisms in 
place to ensure the shared services performed effectively and Members were kept up to 
date with all relevant information.  

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) explained that the reviews and performance 
information of individual shared service arrangements go through their respective Cabinet 
Committees. Any concerns would most likely be brought to the attention of the relevant 
Portfolio Holder.  Members could seek assurance or raise concerns about those services at 
the Cabinet Committees or by discussing it directly with the Portfolio Holder. Senior 
management team also continuously monitor the shared service arrangements within the 
Council and would report any major concerns to the Portfolio Holders and the Leader.  The 
Assistant Director (Corporate Services) agreed to clarify the arrangements in place and 
email Members with an update after the meeting. 

The Committee suggested that there needed to be a proper formal arrangement in place that 
informed Cabinet Members whenever there was a problem with the shared service 
arrangements and established a chain of communication between officers and Members. 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised the Committee that she would raise the 
discussion at a Management Team meeting for discussion and report back to the 
Committee. 

A Member pointed out that the Constitution had too much technical jargon within the wording 
and needed to be simpler for Members to understand. The Assistant Director (Corporate 
Services) advised that she would pass that comment back to the Head of Shared Legal 
Services. 

Resolved that Members approved the Audit & Counter Fraud 2019-20 Plan for Gravesham 
subject to the aforementioned amendments. 

106. Draft Response to Letter to Those Charged with Governance 

Members were provided with an opportunity to consider and discuss a number of questions 
posed by the External Auditors to the Finance & Audit Committee in relation to the council’s 
arrangements to manage fraud risk and ensure legislative compliance. 

As part of the audit risk assessment procedures, Grant Thornton UK LLP posed a number of 
questions directly to the Finance & Audit Committee regarding how the committee oversees 
the council’s management processes and arrangements. A copy of the letter sent to the 
Chair of the Finance & Audit Committee was provided at Appendix Two.

It was suggested by a Member that the Housing Ombudsmen report be included as a source 
of assurance in the response to the question ‘How does the Finance & Audit Committee gain 
assurance that all relevant laws and regulations have been complied with?

Members discussed the role of the Audit Committee and its scope of work.  The Assistant 
Director (Corporate Services) added that the PSAA were keen to raise the profile of Finance 
& Audit Committees and she intended to prepare an annual report for the Committee which 
could be shared with all Members to discuss the work the Committee carried out through the 
year. The intention is that the report will show Members the important work that is carried out 
at the Committees and encourage more participation.  

Page 8



Finance and Audit Committee 12.03.2019

7

Following a Member request and with the Chairs approval, the Assistant Director (Corporate 
Services) agreed to circulate the report to all Members to give them a better understanding 
of the work that is undertaken at the Finance & Audit Committee. 

The Chair asked that the report be written in a manner that could be understood by all 
Members and asked that the notion be taken to MT to conduct similar reports at the other 
Committees.   

Following a suggestion to give Members access to the Finance guidance booklet created a 
number of years ago, the Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised that it will be 
updated with fresh guidance for the new Members after the May elections. 

Resolved that Members agreed the response to the letter from Grant Thornton, subject to 
the aforementioned amendments, was consistent with its understanding of the Council’s 
management processes and arrangements. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8:40pm. 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Part A
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 11 June 2019

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
(Chief Audit Executive)

Subject: Audit & Counter Fraud Annual Report 2018-19

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform Members of the Audit & Counter Fraud work completed during 2018-19 and to 
present the opinion of the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service, as Chief Audit 
Executive, on the council’s internal control environment. 

Recommendations:

Members are requested to:
1. Endorse the work undertaken by the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service for 

Gravesham during 2018-19 in providing an effective service to the council.
2. Consider and endorse the opinion on the council’s internal control environment 

provided by the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service. 
1. Background

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require the Chief Audit Executive to 
provide an annual internal audit opinion based on an objective assessment of the 
framework of governance, risk management and control. The Annual Audit & 
Counter Fraud Report 2018-19 has been prepared for the authority to meet this 
requirement.

1.2 Since 1 March 2016 the council’s internal audit activity has been delivered by the 
Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service with Medway Council

2. Preparation of the Annual Report

2.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service has provided update reports to 
Members at three meetings of the Finance & Audit Committee in 2018-19.  This 
Annual Report reproduces the findings reported in those Update reports along 
with the results of work carried out since the last Update, to provide Members with 
a summary of all work delivered by the team in the year. 

2.2 The Annual Report is intended to provide Members with sufficient details of the 
results of the work of the team to support the opinion of the Chief Audit Executive 
on the adequacy and effectiveness of the council’s overall control environment. 

Page 11 Agenda Item 5



2

2.3 The report has been prepared in line with the requirements of the PSIAS.

2.4 Members attention is drawn to the outcomes of the review of the counter fraud 
function, which is listed in the table at section four of the annual report. The review 
was undertaken independently by Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council (TMBC) 
and their assurance opinion structure differs from that used by the Gravesham & 
Medway Shared Service. The table below sets out the TMBC opinion structure for 
Members reference in respect of that individual review.

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 Nil 

  

High There is a sound system of control operating 
effectively to achieve service/system objectives.
Any issues identified are minor in nature and 
should not prevent system/service objectives 
being achieved.

     

Substantial The system of control is adequate and controls 
are generally operating effectively.
A few weaknesses in internal control and/or 
evidence of a level of non-compliance were 
noted during the audit that may put a 
system/service objective at risk.

Adequate The system of control is sufficiently sound to 
manage key risks.
However, there were weaknesses in internal 
control and/or evidence of a level of non-
compliance with some controls that may put 
system/service objectives at risk.

Limited Adequate controls are not in place to meet all the 
system/service objectives and/or controls are not 
being consistently applied. 
Certain weaknesses require immediate 
management attention as if unresolved they may 
result in system/service objectives not being 
achieved.

No Assurance The system of control is inadequate and controls 
in place are not operating effectively. The 
system/service is exposed to the risk of abuse, 
significant error or loss and/or misappropriation.
This means we are unable to form a view as to 
whether objectives will be achieved.

Page 12



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities to: undertake an 
effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control 
and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance.  The Section 151 Officer of a local authority is responsible 
for establishing the internal audit service; Gravesham Borough Council has 
delegated this responsibility to the Section 151 Officer of Medway Council.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

An adequate and effective Audit & Counter Fraud function provides the council with 
assurance on the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of council resources 
in delivery of services, as well as helping to identify fraud and error that could have 
an adverse effect on the financial statements of the council.

Risk Assessment The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require that: The chief audit executive 
must establish risk-based plans to determine the priorities of the internal audit 
activity, consistent with the organisation’s goals. This report, summarising the work 
of the Audit & Counter Fraud team, provides a key source of assurance for the 
council on the adequacy and effectiveness of its internal control arrangements.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Page 13

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team supports the council in achieving all 
of its objectives set out in the Corporate Business Plan but is particularly relevant to 
Objective 4: Sound & self-sufficient council. 

Crime and Disorder The Audit & Counter Fraud Team provides an independent and objective opinion to 
the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in 
achieving the organisations’ objectives. The work of the team combined with a 
sound internal control environment has a positive contribution to community safety 
in its broadest sense.

Digital and website 
implications

The council’s performance management framework includes the publication of the 
outturns against the Performance Measures and Indicators in the Corporate 
Business Plan. The proportion of recommendations made by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Team that are implemented by Management is one of the council’s overall 
Performance Indicators (PI141) and is therefore reported to the public via the 
council’s Annual Report published on the council’s website. 

The Local Government Transparency Code requires the publication of data relating 
to Fraud Investigation; this is published in line with the requirements on the 
council’s website.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no direct safeguarding implications to this report.

Page 14



Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council

Audit & Counter Fraud 
Annual Report 

2018-19 
Gravesham Borough Council

Page 15



Page 2 of 42

1. Introduction
The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service was established on 1 March 2016 to provide internal audit 
assurance and consultancy, proactive counter fraud and reactive investigation services to Medway 
Council & Gravesham Borough Council.   

The Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (CIIA) defines internal auditing as: an independent, objective 
assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It 
helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to 
evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes.  The 
Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service combines this role with working alongside the councils to manage 
their fraud risk, including work to prevent, detect and investigate fraudulent activity committed against 
the councils.  The team also acts as the Single Point of Contact between both authorities and the 
Department for Work & Pensions Fraud & Error Service for their investigation of Benefits Fraud.  

In accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards), the Head of Audit & 
Counter Fraud provides Members with update reports detailing the work and findings of the team. The 
Standards also require that the Chief Audit Executive must deliver an annual internal audit opinion and 
report that can be used by the organisation to inform its governance statement. The annual internal 
audit opinion must conclude on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s framework 
of governance, risk management and control.

2. Opinion of the Chief Audit Executive 
The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities to ensure that they have: a sound 
system of internal control which— (a) facilitates the effective exercise of its functions and the 
achievement of its aims and objectives; (b) ensures that the financial and operational management of 
the authority is effective; and (c) includes effective arrangements for the management of risk.  The 
system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all 
risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and 
not absolute assurance of effectiveness.  

The Audit & Counter Fraud Team has carried out all internal audit work in line with the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards and in accordance with our Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme.  

In my capacity as Chief Audit Executive, with responsibility for the provision of internal audit services 
to the council, I am required to provide the organisation, and the Chief Executive, with a statement as 
to my opinion of the adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk management, control and 
governance processes. This opinion is intended to support the council’s annual governance 
statement.

In assessing the level of assurance to be given, the following have been taken into account;
 the results of all work carried out by the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service for Gravesham 

from the preparation of the Annual Internal Audit Report 2017-18 in June 2018 to the date of 
this report,

 follow-up of recommendations linked to audits from previous periods,
 Significant recommendations not accepted by management or acted upon and the 

consequent risks,
 The effects of any significant changes in the organisation’s objectives or systems,
 Matters arising from previous reports to the organisation, and
 The results of work performed by other assurance providers.

Page 16



Page 3 of 42

Although limited to the risk areas considered in the services and functions that have been subject to 
review in the year; I am satisfied that sufficient internal audit work has been undertaken to allow us 
to draw a reasonable conclusion as to the adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk 
management, system of internal control and governance processes.

While it has been identified that the authority has mainly established adequate internal controls 
within the areas subject to review during 2018-19, there are areas where compliance with existing 
controls should be enhanced or strengthened or where additional controls should be introduced to 
reduce the risk of loss to the authority.  Where such findings have been made, recommendations 
have been made to management to improve the controls within the systems and processes they 
operate. Management have accepted responsibility for the implementation of these 
recommendations and follow up arrangements are in place to ensure that appropriate action is taken. 
The results of all work completed will be reported to the Finance & Audit Committee in accordance 
with the Audit & Counter Fraud Charter.

It is therefore my opinion that Gravesham Borough Council’s framework of governance, risk 
management and system of internal control is adequate and effective, and contributes to the 
proper, economic, efficient and effective use of resources in achieving the council’s objectives.

3. Independence 
The Audit & Counter Fraud Charter was approved by Gravesham’s Finance & Audit Committee in March 
2019 and sets out the purpose, authority and responsibility of the team. The Charter sets out the 
arrangements to ensure the team’s independence and objectivity through direct reporting lines to 
senior management and Members, and through safeguards to ensure officers remain free from 
operational responsibility and do not engage in any other activity that may impair their judgement.  The 
work of the team during the period covered by this report has been free from any inappropriate 
restriction or influence from senior officers and/or Members. 

Given its responsibilities for counter fraud activities, the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service cannot 
provide independent assurance over the counter-fraud activities and investigative functions of either 
council. Instead independent assurance over the effectiveness of these arrangements will be sought 
from an external supplier of audit services on a periodic basis. 

4. Resources
The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service Team reports to the Section 151 Officers of Medway Council 
and Gravesham Borough Council.  At the start of the year, the team had an establishment of 14 officers 
(13.5FTE), made up of the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud, three Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leaders, 
eight Audit & Counter Fraud Officers, one Audit & Counter Fraud Intelligence Analyst and one Audit & 
Counter Fraud Assistant.  

The Shared Service Agreement sets out the basis for splitting the available resources between the two 
councils, approximately 36% for Gravesham with the remaining 64% for Medway. At the time the Audit 
& Counter Fraud Plans for 2018-19 were prepared, this establishment was forecasted to provide a total 
of 1,834 days available for audit and counter fraud work (net of allowances for leave, training, 
management, administration etc.). The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan for Gravesham was prepared with a 
resource budget of 660 days. 

A mini restructure of the service took place in January 2018, deleting the post of Audit & Counter Fraud 
Manager and one of the Audit & Counter Fraud Officer posts; replacing them with a third Audit & 
Counter Fraud Team Leader and an Audit & Counter Fraud Intelligence Analyst. 

Page 17



Page 4 of 42

Following a recruitment process, the Audit & Counter Fraud Intelligence Analyst was in post from 01 
June 2018. One of the existing Audit & Counter Fraud Officers was successful in securing the post of 
Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leader and took up the post with effect from 01 July 2018, leaving an 
unexpected vacancy for an Audit & Counter Fraud Officer, which was filled with effect from 01 
September 2018. One officer was also on long term sick leave for a significant period during the year.

As of 31 March 2019, the net staff days available for Gravesham for 2018-19 amounted to 583 days and 
503 days (86%) were spent on productive audit and counter fraud work.  Of this productive time, 65% 
was spent on audit assurance and consultancy work, while 35% was spent on pro-active counter fraud 
and investigations work.  The current status and results of all work carried out are detailed at section 5 
of this report.  

Learning and development needs and objectives were agreed through the Performance Development 
Review (appraisal) process, and delivered through a mixture of formal qualification training, formal skills 
training, job-shadowing/mentoring and ‘on the job’ training.  Away day team meetings have taken place 
every other month, and all team members have had regular one to one meetings with their line 
manager to monitor progress with work-plans and to continue to identify and support staff to become 
proficient in all aspects of the team’s work. 

5. Results of planned Audit & Counter Fraud work 
The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 2018-19 for Gravesham was approved by the Finance & Audit 
Committee in March 2018. The Plan was intended to provide a clear picture of how the council would 
use the Audit & Counter Fraud resources, reflecting all work planned for the team for Gravesham during 
the financial year including the council’s core finance and governance arrangements, operational 
assurance work, proactive counter fraud work, responsive investigations and consultancy services. 

Arrangements to monitor the delivery of planned work is built into the team’s processes with individual 
officer time recording data feeding into an automated performance monitoring workbook; this tracks 
the performance of the team against the shared service work-plan as a whole and enables the 
supervisory staff to plan and support officers to deliver their individual work plans.

During the course of the year the plan was amended to take into account changes in resource levels, 
operational risk levels and objectives of the organisation. Members agreed revisions to the original plan 
for 2018-19 to remove planned reviews of: 

 Tenancy Enforcement – The Assistant Director for Housing advised that significant changes in 
management had taken place and changes to all processes were pending and although they 
would be implemented before the end of 2018-19, they would not be fully embedded. The 
review was therefore deferred to 2019-20 at the request of the client.

 Repairs & Maintenance Supplies Management – The project to make changes to the system and 
process was behind schedule. Consultancy services were provided for the tendering phase of 
the project but the review of controls was deferred to 2019-20 at the request of the client. 

 Community Grant Payments – due to loss of resource it was necessary to remove a review form 
the plan. Following an assessment this audit was deemed to present the lowest risk.

The tables below provide details of the work from 2017-18 that was finalised in 2018-19, the progress of 
work undertaken as part of the 2018-19 annual plan and the results of investigative work completed.  
An update on progress with the 2019-20 plan is also provided.  

Page 18



Page 5 of 42

2017-18 Internal Audit Assurance work completed in 2018-19 (items in italics detailed in previous update reports)

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

8 Creditors 10 13.8 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Key controls are in place for the effective management of the creditors 
system.
Appropriate controls are in place to ensure that all creditors have a unique reference 
number that the correct payment is made and that adequate evidence is held to 
support these payments. 
A weakness was identified in relation to the raising of purchase orders within services, 
with 26 of the 96 invoices included in the sample testing found not to have a relevant 
purchase order. The automated invoicing system that is due to be introduced is reliant 
on purchase orders being in place, so any continued failure to raise purchase orders 
would result in the need for manual intervention , which in turn may impact on 
predicted resource savings.
Audit testing undertaken in relation to the 96 invoices confirmed that all had been 
authorised for payment by officers with an appropriate authorisation limit. 
It is acknowledged that the introduction of the Automated Invoicing system will lead 
to an inbuilt authorisation process that occurs at the time the purchase order is raised, 
thereby removing the need for an authorised signatory list as invoices will no longer be 
authorised in hard copy. Opinion: Amber
RMO2 – Key controls are in place for the effective management of petty cash.
Petty cash floats are maintained within individual Directorates and recorded on the 
Imprest system with the officer responsible for the float retaining any vouchers and 
associated receipts. When requests are passed to Exchequer services for floats to be 
replenished, officers pass on details of the expenditure along with the associated 
receipts but do not routinely include details of the remaining balance they hold, which 
presents a risk that the floats may exceed their limit. 
Petty cash is routinely limited to a maximum payment of £25 and the authorised 
signatory list details which officers are permitted to authorise petty cash payments.  It 
is acknowledged that some Directors have a higher petty cash authorisation level.
While there are adequate procedures in place, testing has identified that these 
procedures are not always being followed in relation to petty cash claims and the 
issues identified, such as Managers authorising their own petty cash claims and those 
of close relatives, and officers signing claims that did not have authority to do so or 
exceeded their authorisation limit, also demonstrate a control weakness that exposes 
the council to a risk of fraud.  

P
age 19



Page 6 of 42

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

The removal of petty cash floats and a switch to processing expense claims through 
the HR SelfServe4You system may provide better value for money to the authority in 
the form of efficiency savings and would also provide a means of electronic 
verification. This reduces the potential for fraud as claims could only be authorised by 
managers who have been set as having delegated authority within the system and 
could be processed alongside other expenses such as claims for business mileage. Any 
recommendations into existing processes would still be relevant until any such change 
in process was agreed by Management Team. Opinion: Red
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Three high, two medium and one low 
priority.
Recommendations relate to appropriate staff being reminded of the need to raise 
purchase orders in relation to all purchases, Managers being reminded that invoices 
for goods and services should not be paid via petty cash, that petty cash claims 
should not be authorised by Managers who do not have appropriate authorisation 
or are above their limit, Managers not authorising their own or close relatives petty 
cash claims, float holders being reminded to include remaining balances on the 
information provided to Exchequer Services and Management Team considering the 
removal of petty cash and switching the processing of expenses through the HR 
SelfServe4You system.

15 Borough Market – 
Income 

10 13.9 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Arrangements for the collection and banking of market income are in place.
The review found that within the Gravesend borough Market there are 22 permanent 
units, in addition to space for a number of temporary stalls. The standard rents for 
both permanent and temporary pitches have been set and are provided on the market 
website, though it was noted that these have yet to be reviewed. 
Arrangements exist for deposits to be collected from all permanent stallholders and 
audit testing confirmed that these arrangements are working well in practice, though 
several instances were identified in which deposit invoices had incorrectly been raised 
inclusive of VAT. Procedures are also in place for monthly debtor invoices to be 
automatically raised to collect rent from permanent stallholders. While recovery 
action is taken in respect of unpaid invoices; audit testing identified inconsistencies in 
relation to the number of outstanding invoices, or the level of debt before further 
recovery steps were taken. 
Temporary stallholders pay via cash on the day of attendance. This is collected by the 
Market Operative and is deposited in a safe with restricted access; appropriate 
insurance cover is in place for the level of cash collected.   Arrangements are in place 

P
age 20



Page 7 of 42

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

for cash to be banked in an appropriate manner and recorded on the General Ledger; 
however improvements are needed in relation to record keeping. Opinion: Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Five medium priority.
Recommendations relate to enhancing procedures for the agreement and review of 
pitch fees, applying the correct VAT treatment for deposit invoices, ensuring 
consistent recovery procedures are followed, and ensuring that comprehensive 
records are retained of all cash payments received.

22 Business Continuity 10 7.3 Final Report 
Issued

The review was due to consider the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Arrangements are in place to ensure each service has a updated and 
relevant Business Continuity Plan in place. 
However, due to the significant changes taking place, consultancy work was 
conducted and concluded the following:
The council is reviewing its Corporate and service level Business Continuity Plan 
arrangements, to ensure it is able to meet its statutory responsibilities and ensure that 
staff can put the plans into practice.  Effective Business Continuity Planning will enable 
the council to act quickly and decisively at the outset of the incident and manage risks 
to any loss of service.  While the Corporate BCP requires updating and testing, 
evidence is available to show services update their BCP’s on an annual basis. To 
demonstrate BCP’s are effective more evidence is required to show the plans are 
tested and will achieve their objectives.   
Moves are currently afoot to remedy this with Senior Management taking steps to 
improve business continuity planning across the organisation. With managers already 
familiar with completion of service risk registers, the intention is to take this process a 
step further to align the BCP alongside the Risk Registers and Business Plans. Once 
fully tested the Service BCPs can be used as the basis for a Corporate BCP, pulling all 
the threads together and forming a complete package with the Emergency Planning 
and Business Recovery documents. 
This will enable Gravesham to face any major incident confidently and with clearly 
defined role responsibilities for senior management, a clear process to cascade 
information both internally and externally and with staff able to understand their, 
potentially revised, roles until business recovery is completed and a full and usual 
service resumed.
Recommendations: One high, two medium and one low priority.
Recommendations relate to a redesign of the BCP template, a programme of 
learning for managers & staff, an audit trail being incorporated into the BCP and 
key essential services being identified.

P
age 21



Page 8 of 42

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

26 Housing Revenue 
Account Building 
Management – 
Compliancy

10 18 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – The council has arrangements in place to ensure the required safety checks 
are carried out on HRA properties so that the council meets its duties as a Landlord.
The review found that responsibility for ensuring safety checks are carried out has 
been appropriately allocated and the team is fully aware of the checks that need to be 
undertaken. Contracts exist for all types of safety check, which contain some KPIs, 
however data is not currently collected for Electrical Testing although arrangements 
are now in place to commence the collection of this data. 
Appropriate servicing programmes are in place, with safety checks carried out at 
various intervals. Servicing data has now been uploaded on to the servicing module of 
the management system, Oneserve to automate the servicing programmes from 1 
April 2018. 
Monitoring data available at the time of audit found that 100 per cent compliancy is 
achieved for the majority of programmes, however statistics indicated a shortfall in 
compliancy for the domestic through floor lifts bi-annual programme and the annual 
programme for stair lifts, which we were advised is due to access issues.  
Certifications and documentation is held on the Keystone asset management 
database, testing identified omissions in relation certificates being held on the system 
and opportunities to utilise automated reports were noted
Budget monitoring has previously relied upon an internal spreadsheet which indicated 
some discrepancies to the figures on Civica, however budget holders now have 
responsibility for their own budgets and have received training. They have also been 
made aware that for reporting purposes, Finance will only consider what has gone 
through the general ledger on Civica.
There are 437 leasehold properties, which we were advised could present a potential 
risk should the council be unable to demonstrate that it has taken action to ensure 
that leaseholders carry out the relevant safety checks on their properties. Opinion: 
Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Two high, two medium and three low 
priority.
Recommendations relate to enhancement of processes for tackling access issues 
which prevent checks from being carried out, ensuring the electrical contract 
contains KPIs which are regularly monitored, investigating methods of ensuring 
safety compliance in leasehold properties, reviewing processes for budget 
monitoring, ensuring certificates are stored appropriately and streamlining 
processes for monitoring failed checks.

P
age 22



Page 9 of 42

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

28 Void Property 
Management & Re-
let

15 11.7 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – Appropriate arrangements exist for void property management and re-let.
There are numerous teams and systems in place dealing with different elements of the 
re-let process and it was noted that no policy or procedure notes exist. It has been 
identified that there is not a consistent approach to various elements of the process; 
which in turn means that inconsistent information is being recorded on each system, if 
recorded at all. 
A shared spreadsheet logging void properties exists but is not being regularly updated 
by every team to identify where a void property sits within the process, meaning it 
cannot be utilised as a live document. 
The council’s lettable standard is under review and expected to be in place by August 
2018.  
While the authority has significantly improved the turnaround time in recent months, 
some elements of the process are duplicated or out of date. A review of the end to end 
process to a streamlined process that reduces financial costs through efficiency 
savings.
Performance statistics are maintained by both the voids team and housing allocations 
although these focus on different areas of performance, they do provide an end to end 
performance picture. 
Not all Housing Officers record viewing arrangements for void properties or the 
outcomes of those viewings. It has been indicated that this may be a consequence of 
officers not knowing how the system works, suggesting that there may be a training 
issue. Opinion: Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Two high and three medium priority.
Recommendations relate to the introduction of a Voids Policy which includes 
procedure notes, amending the tenancy handbook to include basic repairs that 
tenants are expected to complete, ensuring all recording methods are updated 
regularly to ensure records of every element of the process are correct, a review of 
the re-let process and refresher training for officers on use of the Locata system.

P
age 23



Page 10 of 42

2018-19 Internal Audit Assurance work (items in italics detailed in previous update reports)

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Core governance and financial systems assurance work
1 Finalisation of 

2017-18 planned 
work

25 24.9 Complete Allowance to finalise work from the 2017-18 plan not completed as at 31 March 2018.

2 Performance 
Management

5 1 Complete A&CF Officers have worked with the Corporate Performance team to verify the 2017-
18 corporate performance information reported. 

3 Corporate & 
Business Planning

10 7.1 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 – A Corporate Plan is being developed for the period 2019-23 
The review found there is a process in place to develop a revised Corporate Plan and 
this process is currently in the consultation phase. A financial briefing paper has been 
produced to accompany the consultation questions but those who chose to complete 
the questionnaire on the paper copy would only know about the financial briefing if 
they had read about it on the website, hard copies however are available on request. 
Opinion: Green.
RMO2 – A business plan have been completed for the current financial year by all 
relevant service areas: 
The review found that except for shared services, all services have current business 
plans held on file, and within those business plans most of the objectives are linked to 
the Corporate Plan.
Shared service managers provide annual assurance of a business plan and quarterly 
reviews of their work streams but are not currently required to provide a copy. 
All four council objectives are covered by at least one service’s business plan and 
commitments within those objectives are referenced in business plans.
The business plan process is one area of the council which all service managers are 
now engaging in and this process could be used by senior management to capture any 
other council wide information they might feel useful. Opinion: Green.
Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: None.

4 Performance 
Management 
Framework

10 5.8 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Arrangements exist to monitor and report on corporate performance.
The review found that robust procedures are in place to monitor and report corporate 
performance.
The Performance Management Framework (PMF) was implemented in October 2015 
following Full Council approval. This was introduced to monitor the delivery of the 
Corporate Plan 2015-19. The PMF is split into three sections including Performance 
Measures (PM), Performance Indicators (PI) and Management Indicators (MI). 

P
age 24



Page 11 of 42

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

A Data Quality Policy is in place which sets out how target setting should be conducted 
on an annual basis for all PMs.  Ultimately, the final sign off lies with the relevant 
Portfolio Holder; however, it was found that this is rarely documented. The policy 
needs to be updated at point 5.8 regarding appendix 4 as returning a signed checklist 
to the Corporate Performance Team is no longer relevant.
In accordance with the Data Quality Policy, the role of Members is to scrutinise the 
data that they are presented with in order for them to make informed decisions on 
behalf of the council; however, they are not routinely provided with training regarding 
the Performance Management Framework.
Procedure notes are produced for each PM, PI and MI, giving detailed information on 
the reason the data is required and how it should be calculated. 
Reports are produced on a quarterly and annual basis detailing performance 
information and measures are in place to challenge poor performance.
Annual validation of performance outturns is conducted by the Audit and Counter 
Fraud Team on a risk basis. Opinion: Green
Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: Three low priority.
Recommendations relate to an elected Member training document being devised, 
the Data Quality Policy being updated regarding point 5.8 and Appendix 4 and 
documented agreement from the relevant Portfolio holder being obtained for all 
targets

5 Ethics 15 N/A Draft Report 
with client for 
consideration

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - All council employees behave with integrity, demonstrate strong 
commitment to ethical values and respect the rule of the law.    

6 General ledger 10 7.4 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – Arrangements are in place to ensure that information is recorded 
accurately on the General Ledger (GL).
The review found that the council’s GL is part of the Civica Authority Financials suite 
of systems used to account for all income and expenditure. Information is posted to 
the GL through a number of feeder systems including; Creditors, Debtors, Purchasing, 
AIM - Income/Cash Management, Asset Management, Reprographics and Salaries, on 
varying frequencies. Each transaction posted to the General Ledger has a unique 
journal number allocated automatically by the system. Each transaction also has a 
transaction code which identifies the type of transaction and the feeder system it has 
been posted from. Reconciliations are conducted between the GL and all feeder 
systems to ensure there are no discrepancies. Monthly reconciliations are also 
conducted between the General Ledger and the council’s bank account.

P
age 25



Page 12 of 42

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Appropriate restrictions are in place to ensure that only authorised officers are able to 
raise and authorise journals to make manual adjustments to information recorded on 
the GL. Opinion: Green
Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: None.

7 Bad Debt 
Provision

15 12.8 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – The council are providing a realistic level of provision for bad debts within 
their accounts: 
Bad debt provision is being applied in line with the most up to date principles of CIPFA 
guidance.
Not all elements of council debt have been included in the provision calculation as an 
element of benefit debt that has not been included.
All calculations except for one are accurate and the figures used in the calculations 
could be matched back to the source documents.
All the elements included in the calculations for bad debt provision have their own 
criteria, based on either the age of the debt, the value of the debt or the historic 
information of debt.
There are principles and procedures set for each element of debt, however these are 
not all fully documented. Opinion: Amber
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: One medium and two low priority.
Recommendations relate to ensuring all elements of debt within the council are 
considered, producing written notes on the methodologies being used and checking 
data used in calculation is accurate.

8 NNDR Recovery 15 8.2 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Appropriate arrangements are in place for the collection of unpaid business 
rates.
The review found that Gravesham Borough Council has comprehensive information on 
its website regarding the payment of National Non Domestic Rates (NNDR) and its 
recovery. Information is also provided on the back of all NNDR bills and letters.
Documented procedures are in place in the form of a Corporate Fair Debt Policy, which 
adheres to the Local Government Finance Act. The Policy states that reminder notices 
will be issued after fourteen days, although audit testing on twenty randomly selected 
accounts found that reminder notices were issued between twelve and 31 days.
NNDR arrears are identified in a timely manner as agreed parameters are set within 
the system. Automated recovery action is then taken in accordance with an agreed 
schedule.

P
age 26



Page 13 of 42

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Measures are in place to pass debtor accounts to Enforcement Officers for recovery 
action to be taken. However, scheduled monitoring of cases held by the Enforcement 
Agency is not conducted. 
Appropriate arrangement exist for debt which is not with the Enforcement Agency to 
be monitored and action taken where necessary. Procedures are also in place for the 
overall collection rate of NNDR to be monitored. Opinion: Green.
Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: Two low priority.
Recommendations relate to the scheduled monitoring of cases with the Enforcement 
Agency and reminder notices to be issued in line with Gravesham’s Corporate Fair 
Debt Policy.

9 VAT 10 17.3 Final Report 
Issued 

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Adequate procedures are in place for identifying, processing and accounting 
for VAT.
The review found that the VAT process is well embedded within the Finance Team, 
with returns being submitted in good time to HMRC. The team makes good use of its 
tax specialist to keep abreast of any new developments in the field. 
Provision of training and an aide memoire would improve VAT awareness to staff 
outside of finance; with responsibility for raising debtor invoices or purchase orders. 
Procedures are required to demonstrate compliance with the HMRC requirement to 
have procedures in place to deal with VAT in relation to the payment of a bad debt 
when it has been written off. Opinion: Green
Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: None.

10 Financial 
statements 
preparation

15 9.5 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Final accounts are prepared in accordance with the latest CIPFA code and 
statutory reporting deadlines are met.
The finance team responsible for the preparation of the final accounts prepared the 
draft accounts for the 2017/18 financial year by the statutory reporting deadline of 31 
May 2018 and in accordance with the latest CIPFA code.
The external auditors were able to audit the accounts in time for the accounts to be 
signed off and published on the website by 31 July 2018. Opinion: Green
Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: None.

11 Grant payments 10 N/A N/A Removed from Plan
12 Responsive 

assurance work
8 4.9 Final Report 

Issued
A review of arrangements to meet the requirements of the Transparency code was 
undertaken at the request of the Director (Corporate Services). Full details can be 
found in the table at page 27.

Corporate risks assurance work

P
age 27



Page 14 of 42

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

13 IT Strategy & 
implementation

10 14.3 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – Arrangements are in place to review and implement the council’s IT needs. 
The review found that the council has procedures and arrangements in place to 
identify business needs for new IT equipment, either through projects undertaken by 
the various services, post implementation reviews or residual requirements for an 
individual service. Criteria exists to identify the equipment required, whether it be 
service modernisation, introduction of technology or communication. 
Arrangements and procedures exist to ensure IT raise purchase orders for new 
equipment, which are approved at senior management level, whilst the Civica 
Financial system is correctly updated on goods received allowing for invoices to be 
paid.  Arrangements and procedures surrounding asset management require 
improvement to ensure alerts and warnings identified by Snow Licence Manager are 
fully investigated and accurate records are maintained for the redeployment of 
assets. 
Policies and procedures are in place regarding the disposal of IT equipment to ensure 
it is destroyed securely and in accordance with current legislation. Opinion: Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Two medium priority.
Recommendations relate to ensuring discrepancies identified by the licence 
management software are investigated with a record of corrective action taken and 
reconciliations of IT asset records.

14 Use of 
Enforcement 
Services 
(Previously titled 
Use of Bailiffs)

10 N/A Draft Report 
with client for 
consideration

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - Arrangements around the use of enforcement services are consistent.
RMO2 - Contractual arrangements are in place to ensure value for money.

15 Procurement 
compliance

10 7.5 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Appropriate procedures relating to contracts procured via South East 
Consortium are in place.
The review found that although contracts have not always been robust on price 
increases, a new contract template has been devised via SEC, which includes the 
Consumer Price Index and a break clause allowing the contract to be cancelled due to 
poor performance or unarranged price increases. Each contract is also reviewed by the 
in-house Legal Services Team.
A Project Manager is allocated to each contract and monthly meetings are held to 
discuss each contract, including budget, productivity and any concerns that have 
arisen. Minutes of the meeting and an up to date action plan are kept for each 
contract.

P
age 28



Page 15 of 42

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Budget monitoring is conducted and a ‘live’ spreadsheet is kept, which is linked to 
Civica and shows the spend relating to each contract.
Key Performance Indicators are in place for all contracts procured via SEC.  However, 
customer satisfaction surveys were not held, where required, for contracts reviewed 
for testing purposes. 
Informal procedures are in place for reporting productivity and budget problems with 
contracts to SEC, though these should be formalised. Opinion: Green.
Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: One low priority.
Recommendation relates to customer satisfaction surveys being completed for all 
relevant contracts.

16 Refunds 10 N/A Fieldwork 
completed, in 
Quality 
Control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - Adequate policies and procedures are in place for the administration of 
refunds.
RMO2 - Adequate arrangements are in place for the processing of refunds.

17 Write Offs 15 N/A Draft Report 
with client for 
consideration

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - There are arrangements and procedures in place regarding debt write off.

18 Counter Fraud
(Results of a 
review of the 
Medway & 
Gravesham shared 
Counter Fraud 
Function)

5 
(additional 7 
on Medway 

Plan)

1.6 
(additional 

2.8 on 
Medway 

Plan)

Final Report 
Received

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - Arrangements in place to promote fraud awareness and prevention. It was 
established that while generic Member training has been undertaken, with more 
planned for post-election, and some training with specific services, officer training is 
ad hoc rather than focussed on key risk areas. Currently there is not a documented 
Fraud Risk Assessment in place to inform training or other proactive work such as 
fraud proofing reviews. We understand that the multidisciplinary nature of the team 
has necessitated prioritisation of internal audit work with fraud resource therefore 
limited to investigations. Opinion: Adequate.
RMO2 - Relevant policies and procedures are adequate and adhere to legislation 
and best practice. Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policies are in place at both authorities 
and are adequate; however, they are inconsistent in the approach taken between the 
two authorities, which is not advantageous to a shared service. In addition, the 
involvement of the Audit Committee in the review and/or approval process was 
unclear. Neither Policy/Strategy covers all key fraud risks, with Medway having 
additional risk areas due to their unitary status. Gravesham has specific policies for 
particular risk areas, such as Housing, while Medway does not; consequently the 
principles of the Gravesham policies are applied at both authorities. An exercise is 
planned to review and align the policies of both authorities for the shared service to 
apply a consistent approach across the partnership. Opinion: Adequate.

P
age 29



Page 16 of 42

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

RMO3 - Referals are reviewed and progressed appropriately with escalation to 
investigation in line with the Council’s policy/thresholds and those decision are fully 
documented. Processes for managing referrals were reviewed and found to be 
complied with overall. There was sufficient information to show the source of 
referrals, the information captured within the system matched the details provided 
and reviews were undertaken in a timely manner in the majority of cases. Minor 
delays in the sifting of referrals were noted in three of the 30 cases tested. 
Justification was in place on the majority of cases and approved by the manager, with 
some low-level cases progressed by an officer. Where cases were not progressed, 
these were closed and, where relevant, overloaded to an appropriate body (i.e. DWP). 
Where cases came from an in-house source there was engagement with the referrer 
to progress. Opinion: Substantial.
RMO4 - The investigations the Council undertakes are robust, appropriate and 
comply with the relevant legislation as well as organisational policy and procedures. 
Testing of investigations showed that lines of enquiry were evident and reasonable in 
the majority of cases. There were some cases (4/30) where it could be argued that 
additional lines could have been followed but currently no investigation plans are 
used to outline all lines of enquiry to review and track cases. The majority of cases 
were progressed in a timely manner, however where delays occurred (4/30) reasons 
for those delays were not documented. There were good records of evidence 
obtained with appropriate case notes and where statements were obtained, the 
correct format was used. It was also established that there was good use of Data 
Protection forms, and letters issued to suspects and witnesses quoted relevant 
legislation to provide a legal gateway to obtain information. Where interviews took 
place these were undertaken in a timely manner with interview plans and other 
relevant documentation in place. Witness statements where needed were recorded 
on the relevant section 9 statement. 
For five cases out of 11 which required ongoing review these were not undertaken 
three monthly. However, review at the appropriate decision-making point (closure) 
was in place in all cases. In relation to closures and reporting, justifications were in 
place to support the conclusions reached and the decision to close. In the majority of 
cases (28/30) there was evidence of manager sign off, those that did not were due to 
the source of the case being a false/positive match from data matching software. 
Outcomes, including any over/under payment, were recorded correctly on 
management information and where applicable the relevant service manager was 
informed of the outcome. Opinion: Substantial.

P
age 30



Page 17 of 42

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

RMO5 - Sanctions are applied when relevant and are proportionate. Decisions to 
apply sanctions are documented and approved in line with the Council’s policy. 
Sanctions are defined in the policies reviewed as Caution, Administrative Penalty or 
Prosecution, with clear criteria and public interest tests etc. defined and consistent 
across the Policies in place. A total of 34 cases were identified that were closed with 
fraud/error found and six were reviewed; three where a sanction in line with the 
policy definition was applied, one prosecution and two cautions, as well as three 
where Civil Penalties were applied. The remaining 28 cases had outcomes varying 
from an exemption being removed to a council property being recovered. According 
to the Investigation Mapping Process a Case Progression Form (CPF) is required for all 
cases to be considered for further action; however the service advised that case 
progression forms are only required where there is to be consideration of a criminal 
sanction, as per those defined in policies. For the six cases tested CPFs were provided 
for three. Of the remaining three, two were Civil Penalties and one was a Prosecution. 
In relation to the prosecution we were told that the decision was undertaken at the 
start of the shared service arrangement and it was only at that point it was realised 
there was no formal sanction decision notice used and therefore the process was 
introduced. Decisions relating to civil actions are referred to the relevant department 
with a recommendation from the investigation officer and therefore do not require a 
case progression. The service have noted that this is a gap in their process map but 
have followed the same process consistently.
For the 3 CPFs that were on file all were completed consistently with sufficient 
information and the sanction was in line with Policy. Opinion: Adequate.
Overall Opinion: Adequate. Recommendations: Four medium priority.
Recommendations relate to undertaking a fraud risk assessment to prioritise work 
in the highest areas; including staff training, a review of all fraud related policies at 
both organisations; aligning key policies as appropriate, more detailed records of 
management authorisations in relation to referrals and periodic reviews of ongoing 
investigations, and updating the investigation process map to correct an identified 
gap.

19 General Data 
Protection 
Regulation

15 19.3 Final Report 
Issued

The review sought to provide an opinion that a framework is in place to ensure:
1. Data processing is fair, lawful and transparent.
2. Data collected is purpose limited.
3. Data minimisation is in place.
4. Data held is accurate.
5. Data retention periods are monitored.
6. There is adequate data security in place.

P
age 31



Page 18 of 42

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

7. Data sharing complies with GDPR.
The introduction of GDPR was a project requiring a staged approach; firstly to 
establish operational readiness and embed compliant behaviour, then secondly to 
establish a framework to monitor compliance. 
Because the Council remains at the establishing operational readiness stage, a 
framework to monitor GDPR compliance is not in place. It has therefore not been 
possible to review effectiveness of the framework required to monitor GDPR. 
Opinion: Red.
Overall Opinion: Red. Recommendations: One high priority.
Recommendation relates to the implementation of an effective monitoring system 
once the Council has progressed its GDPR compliance sufficiently.

20 Homelessness 15 18.8 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 - Arrangements are in place to meet the new requirements within the 
Homelessness Reduction Act.
During an audit review in 2016-17 a recommendation was made for the Homelessness 
Prevention Strategy to be updated as the last strategy ran from 2008 to 2013. This 
review has identified that the recommendation remains outstanding and therefore 
means that an up-to-date strategy has not been in place for at least five years, with 
the council not meeting the legal requirements within legislation. However; a new 
draft Homelessness Prevention Strategy and action plan were agreed by the Housing 
Cabinet Committee on 13 February 2019 and a wider consultation has commenced to 
ensure all Members are able to express their views. 
Information on the council’s website is out of date and not in line with the 
requirements within the Act. However set actions within the agreed action plan are 
for the website to be updated by June 2019. 
Arrangements are in place for assessments to be carried out and personalised housing 
plans (PHP) drawn up. Applications can be submitted online which are automatically 
uploaded to the Locata system, where all assessments, PHPs and documentation are 
held.  Since April 2018 when the new legislation came into force, 1492 cases have 
been opened in Locata, and audit testing, showed that assessments and PHPs had 
always been completed when required by the legislation.
There are currently arrangements in place for the majority of applicants to be placed 
in temporary accommodation in order to relieve homelessness for all eligible 
applicants. This is due to the low availability of council housing stock and private 
rented options; which is largely the result of private landlords accommodating tenants 
from Bexley and Bromley Council, and also offering their properties to Kent County 
Council refugee accommodation. 

P
age 32



Page 19 of 42

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

It was agreed by the Assistant Director (Housing) in November 2018 for 10 an 
additional units within the council housing stock to be used for temporary 
accommodation. A long term temporary reduction strategy has been put in place to 
decrease the number of families within Temporary Accommodation; this currently 
consists of 20 families who have been in TA for two years.
The review found that there are currently no documented procedures in place to deal 
specifically with applicants who were failing to cooperate with the council in order to 
achieve prevention or relief from homelessness or being threatened with 
homelessness. However it was reported that no instances of this have occurred, and 
the Housing Options team are aware that procedures need to be documented. It was 
advised that due to staff resources and instances not occurring, concentration had 
been given to embedding the new requirements and duties, and also the new 
computer system. 
The review found that procedures are in place for public bodies to refer someone 
directly via the council’s website, and via email to a specified inbox created for 
referrals. Opinion: Red.
Overall Opinion: Red. Recommendations: Three high and one medium priority.
Recommendations relate to the website being updated in line with the 
Homelessness Reduction Act, and the rebadging, implementation and publication of 
the Homelessness Prevention Strategy, as in line with the Rough Sleeping Strategy 
delivery plan, the creation of procedure notes to support the new requirements of 
the act, and looking at prevention measures and longer term accommodation 
options, in order to make better use of the temporary accommodation budget, and 
help prevent homelessness.

21 Establishment 
Management

15 10.1 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - The council’s establishment is appropriately managed.
The review found that all employee and HR establishment details are recorded within 
the Resource Link HR system and an establishment list can be extracted which shows 
all posts, as well as current budgeted and actual full time equivalent (FTE). A process is 
in place whereby all changes to the council’s establishment must be approved by 
council’s Management Team (MT); however inconsistencies were identified in the 
depth of information provided with each request. Arrangements exist for the financial 
considerations of all proposed changes to the establishment to be taken into account; 
however, while some managers do consult the HR team, there is no requirement for 
HR implications to be considered in the same way. In addition, although widely known 
by managers, the process for making changes to the council’s establishment has not 
been documented in a policy or procedure note. Managers are responsible for 

P
age 33



Page 20 of 42

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

approaching the HR team once changes to the establishment have been agreed by MT 
and various forms are in place in order for the changes to be made on Resource Link; 
though there are different approval requirements across these forms. In addition, 
there is no requirement for managers to confirm on the forms that the relevant MT 
approval has been obtained and this is not independently checked. Audit testing in 
relation to five approved changes to the establishment confirmed that in all five 
instances the changes were supported by the relevant forms and had been reflected 
on Resource Link, with the exception of one post left vacant by a restructure which 
should have been deleted. Procedures are in place for temporary changes to the 
establishment to be monitored through Resource Link. While this process ensures 
appointments are ended in line with agreed changes to the establishment, it does not 
result in the post physically being removed from the establishment; however, if the 
manager wanted to fill the vacant post or make any other changes to it, further MT 
approval would be required which would re-start the process for making changes. 
Opinion: Amber.
RMO2 - The council’s salaries budget is appropriately managed.  
The review found that budgetary provision is made for all posts included within the 
council’s establishment, via the salaries budget, which is prepared on an annual basis 
as part of the council’s overall budget setting procedure. Once the salaries budget is 
set, it is set for the year; however arrangements exist for changes to be monitored via 
a salaries budget monitoring spreadsheet, which allows for a projected outturn to be 
calculated. 
The relevant accountants are made aware of agreed changes to the establishment 
through MT minutes; however, changes are not recorded on the salaries budget 
monitoring spreadsheet until they have actually taken effect, therefore the team are 
largely reliant on starter, leaver and change notifications from HR. However, budget 
holders are sent a link to their salaries budget monitoring sheet on a monthly basis 
and are asked to make the accountants aware of any changes that have not yet been 
recorded. Audit testing in relation to five approved changes to the establishment 
confirmed that in all five instances the changes were appropriately reflected in the 
salaries budget monitoring spreadsheet.
Arrangements exist for salaries budget monitoring reports to be presented to MT on a 
regular basis and procedures are also in place for an annual review of all vacant posts. 
There are not however currently any arrangements to carry out reconciliations 
between the HR establishment list and salaries budget monitoring spreadsheet. 
Several discrepancies were identified during testing however these were in relation to 

P
age 34



Page 21 of 42

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

different post names / numbers being held on the two sources rather than any issues 
with ‘ghost’ employees or similar. Opinion: Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: One High, three medium and one low 
priority.
Recommendations relate to ensuring consistent information is provided for all 
requests to make changes to the establishment, ensuring that HR implications are 
formally considered for each change, preparing a policy or procedure note setting 
out the process for making changes to the establishment, reviewing forms used to 
make changes to the establishment on Resource Link and carrying out periodic 
reconciliations between the establishment list and salaries budget.

22 Staff Performance 
Management 
Framework

10 N/A Not 
Completed

During Quarter 4 of 2018-19, an assessment was undertaken as part of the Investors 
In People accreditation process, which identified a number of recommendations 
linked to improvements for staff performance management processes. As a 
consequence, the review was not undertaken as the key issues had already been 
highlighted. Instead the review will be rescheduled for 2020-21 to allow time for the 
IIP recommendations to be implemented and provide assurance once the 
improvements have been made.

23 Brookvale Health 
& Safety 
(Previously titled 
Manual Handling)

10 15.3 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 – Appropriate measures are in place of ensure the health and safety of all 
manual workers at Brookvale.
The review found that the health and safety of the workers at Brookvale is treated as 
a major factor in the provision of services from that site. Regular talks regarding 
health and safety issues build on a robust induction package and aims to ensure any 
accidents or incidents are kept to a minimum. This is supported by the corporate 
accident records which shows no accidents/incidents at Brookvale for 5 of the months 
in the April 17 – March 18 financial year. Where injuries were found to be as a result 
of the operative not utilising Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) as intended, they 
were reminded to do so and this is brought up at ‘Tool Box Talks’ to the other 
operatives to remind them that PPE is to be worn to avoid any further injuries. 
The review found risk assessments are conducted yearly but not necessarily by an 
appropriately qualified officer. Where a new risk is identified the risk assessment is 
updated to mitigate the risk of further incidents. Senior management at Brookvale 
have already recognised the training records need updating and are taking steps to 
develop a comprehensive training matrix, backed by individual training records, 
allowing them to identify any outstanding needs for training and to ensure all 
refresher training is conducted in good time. Opinion: Amber.

P
age 35



Page 22 of 42

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

RMO2 – Appropriate measures are in place for the reporting and investigation of 
any incident/ accidents at Brookvale.
The review found sufficient evidence that appropriate procedures are in place to 
report and review instances where accidents occur.  Investigations of injuries helps to 
continue to drive forward improved risk assessments and used as a learning 
experience to help reduce numbers of Health & Safety incidents. Management use 
‘Tool Box Talks’ with all officers to help remind them of compliance with correct 
procedures to follow and the correct equipment to wear to protect them. In 2018 
manual handling training was provided specific to officers in each of the refuse, street 
cleansing and horticulture roles. Educating staff and a continual process of reviewing 
risks is the focus to prevent accidents. Appropriate steps are in place to reduce the 
occurrence of injuries resulting from accidents. Treatment of injuries currently takes 
place in a staff breakout area on the first floor, which could be improved by having a 
dedicated first aid area on the ground floor to treat injuries. Opinion: Green.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: one high, two medium and one low 
priority.
Recommendations relate to ensuring that training records are maintained and 
complete for all Brookvale operatives, a requirement for the officers undertaking 
risk assessments to be qualified to do so, ensuring that checks are made that the 
employment agencies who provide workers supply appropriate PPE and identifying 
an area suitable for first aid treatment, ensuring easy access and a washable floor.

24 Tenancy 
Enforcement

15 N/A N/A Deferred to 2019-20

25 Rent Deposit 
Scheme

10 16 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 – Arrangements exist to distribute rent deposits
There are arrangements in place to distribute rent deposits but with no set criteria 
available it is not possible to give assurance that all members of the team responsible 
for distributing the loans are working consistently. 
While the loan scheme is discretionary, unsuccessful applicants are not provided with 
a breakdown of the reasons why, which may be open to challenge. 
Testing has identified that applications are not always verified correctly, with evidence 
of identification and income missing in a number of cases. It was also found that 
applications are not always appropriately approved by senior officers.
Inadequate application forms, inappropriate agreement forms and poor record 
keeping mean that tenants and landlords are not aware of their obligations or the 
consequences for failing to repay loans. 

P
age 36



Page 23 of 42

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Reconciliations do not take place between the records held in Housing and the General 
Ledger to ensure that the loans are accurately recorded and budgets appropriately 
monitored.
Working procedures within the team are not consistent and therefore training should 
be given to all staff regarding the correct process and procedures they should be 
adhering to. Opinion: Red.
RMO2 – Arrangements exist to recover all rent deposits
There are arrangements in place to recover rent deposits and the Income Team have 
procedures in place to monitor and collect the income from the debtors, the overall 
collection rate from 2008 is 54%.
Testing showed that invoices are not always being raised for the loans granted and 
therefore this debt may not be recovered.
All deposits paid by the council should be either registered in the council’s name or as 
a third party interest and these should then be reclaimable when the tenancy ends. 
Testing showed that only 40% of deposits were registered this way and therefore 
council money that could be reclaimable is returned to the tenant who then may not 
repay it to the council. Opinion: Amber.
Overall Opinion: Red. Recommendations: Seven high and six medium priority.
Recommendations relate to ensuring loan applications  are appropriately assessed, 
authorised & consistently distributed, unsuccessful applicants being advised of the 
reason why, agreement forms being clearer to tenants and updated for landlords, 
appropriate certificates being obtained from landlords, reconciliation between 
Housing records and the General Ledger, training for Housing Needs Officers, 
verification of payment information for Letting Agencies, ensuring invoices are 
raised for all loans granted, deposit loans being held in appropriate scheme’s with 
the councils interest registered and the monitoring of loans.

26 Repairs & 
Maintenance 
Supplies 
Management

15 N/A N/A Deferred to 2019-20

Counter Fraud Assurance Work
27 Housing 

Allocations
15 7.7 Final Report 

Issued
The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1: Arrangements are in place to ensure council properties are allocated 
appropriately.
The review found an Allocations policy exists and can be found on the council’s 
website. The policy was updated in 2014 and therefore requires review to include any 

P
age 37



Page 24 of 42

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

necessary updates due to legislative changes introduced by the Homelessness 
Reduction Act. 
Staff within Allocations are not required to complete annual declarations of interest. 
Therefore officers can currently assess applications of friends and relatives without 
additional checks being conducted by senior officers and potentially place those 
applications in higher banding. 
Applicants submit online applications using the Locata/Kent Home Choice system 
used by many Kent authorities. Allocations Officers assess and band the applications 
received within a timely manner, although there are no expected standards to meet. 
In relation to Direct Priority Lets, the Allocations team are required to submit a formal 
request to the Assistant Director and expect a formal authorisation and decision 
making process to take place. However, there was an instance found in testing where 
Allocations only knew of a Direct Priority Let when Assistant Director sent an e-mail 
telling them, with no decision process being documented. This practice was 
highlighted in the 2015/16 Transfers &Successions audit which introduced a 
recommendation of “All priority transfers should be carried out in accordance with the 
Allocations Policy, should be subject to appropriate approval and all decision processes 
should be adequately documented”. 
Supporting evidence for a housing application should be received via Customer 
Services or the Housing Options team. A sample of 20 random applications found 15 
applications had supporting evidence but it was not possible to confirm if 
documentation, such as identification, was verified as genuine as no verification 
stamps or notes were found.  In the other five instances, the applicants were already 
Gravesham tenants but no updated identification documents were requested. There 
is a risk that forged or faked documents could be submitted with applications for 
individuals to make a gain by increasing their priority or manipulating their 
circumstances in order to qualify for housing, so original documents should always be 
requested and staff may benefit from training in document verification. Opinion: 
Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Three high and four medium priority.
Recommendations relate to reviewing and, where appropriate, updating the current 
Allocations policy, refresher training in respect of document verification, applicants 
supplying original identification and supporting evidence in respect of all 
applications, application forms and supporting documents being retained in all 
cases, the introduction of a formal process for all direct let authorisations, an annual 
review of the housing waiting list and annual  declarations of interest being 
completed by all allocations staff.

P
age 38



Page 25 of 42

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

28 Residents Parking 
Permits

15 11.5 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – Adequate procedures are in place to prevent residential parking permit 
fraud.
Paper and online application forms exist to apply for both resident parking permits 
(RPP) and visitor permits. Although the paper application form contains a declaration, 
it does not contain a warning to discourage fraudulent conduct.  The online 
application does not contain a declaration at all. To support this deterrence 
information should be available on the council’s website to enable the public to report 
concerns of permit misuse.  
Procedures are in place to ensure permits are issued appropriately. Some 
improvement is required to ensure records are correctly retained and decision making 
appropriately recorded.  
The stock of visitor permits is appropriately controlled but the current arrangements 
do not enable income reconciliation to provide assurance all income is accounted for. 
Permit zones are recorded on resident permits but not visitor permits. A consistent 
approach is required for all permits to ensure permits are used correctly. Opinion: 
Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Two high, three medium and one low 
priority.
Recommendations relate to deterring permit misuse through an improved 
declaration by the applicant and a means for the public to report misuse concerns. 
Improvements relating to the recording, retaining of information and decision 
making. A consistent approach by recording Zones on visitor permits. Income 
reconciliation to provide assurance permit income is accounted for.

Counter Fraud Activity 

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

30 Pro-active 
investigations work

29 3.6 N/A A pro-active drive reviewing all council tax accounts with full student exemptions was 
undertaken, involving scrutiny of all student certificates supplied in order to confirm 
that they were genuine. 
Approx. 90 accounts were reviewed with 9 identified as having potential 
discrepancies, which were subject to investigation.

31 Data matching 
exercises, including 
National Fraud 

29 7.6 N/A Data matching with the Kent Intelligence Network has been stalled by a number of 
issues throughout the year, which started with the search for a new software 

P
age 39



Page 26 of 42

Ref Activity Day 
budget

Days 
used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Initiative and Kent 
Intelligence Network

provider. While the new software is now available there are still issues around GDPR 
being resolved.
Data matching for small business rate relief has taken place with a company called 
Destin Solutions, who use publicly available data. This has identified businesses with 
relief at more than one authority, which are then subject to investigation with the 
removal of the rate relief if appropriate. 
The Council has taken part in the National Fraud Initiative Exercise for 2018-19 with 
data submitted in October 2018 and matches received in January 2019. The Audit & 
Counter Fraud Team is working with services to check the matches received and 
identify whether there are genuine discrepancies that require more in depth 
investigation. 

32 Fraud awareness 10 N/A N/A No fraud awareness training undertaken during the year.

Reactive Investigations work: external investigations

Area
Number of 

referrals 
rejected

Number of 
investigations 

concluded
Summary of results Cashable 

Savings
Non-cashable 

Savings
Prevented 

Losses

Council Tax 10 27 Three cases were concluded with the 
removal of the council tax 
discount/exemption, one of which also 
resulted in the issue of a civil penalty, and 
one case was concluded with the removal of 
the CTR award. 23 cases were concluded 
with no evidence of fraud.

£9,899.12 
(Historic 
Liability) 
£3,890.82 
(Additional 
liability for 
future years)
£70 (Civil 
Penalty) 

N/A N/A

Tenancy 8 13 Four cases resulted in the recovery of the 
GBC property. Nine cases were concluded 
with no evidence of fraud.

N/A £72,000 N/A

Right to Buy 0 3 One case resulted in a RTB application being 
blocked due to falsified information. Two 
cases concluded with no evidence of fraud.

N/A N/A £80,900

Housing Allocations 3 3 Three cases concluded with no evidence of 
fraud.

N/A N/A N/A

P
age 40



Page 27 of 42

Area
Number of 

referrals 
rejected

Number of 
investigations 

concluded
Summary of results Cashable 

Savings
Non-cashable 

Savings
Prevented 

Losses

Other 0 2 Two cases relating to parking matters were 
investigated. One was linked to possible 
misuse of a residents parking permit and 
was concluded no fraud. In the second case, 
the customer accepted a caution after 
admitting supplying false medical documents 
to GBC in order to avoid paying parking 
fines. 

N/A N/A N/A

Reactive Investigations work: internal investigations (items in italics detailed in previous update reports)

Allegation Investigation activity & recommendations

Responsive Internal Audit Assurance Work

Activity Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Review of 
arrangements to meet 
the requirements of 
the Transparency code

Final Report Issued The review considered the following Risk Management Objective:
RMO1 – The council is adequately meeting its transparency requirements.  
The review found that a webpage is included within the ‘About the council – Policies, strategies, open data’ 
section of the council’s web site which is dedicated to transparency and open data. On this web page there 
are 27 links, 12 of which are to webpages hosted in this section containing data directly required by the 
Local Government Transparency Code 2015. The remaining 15 links are to various other webpages, including 
some providing data required by other legislation, however it is suggested that a review is undertaken to 
ensure that only relevant information is included in the transparency and open data section of the council’s 
website. 
The Local Government Transparency Code 2015 requires the council to publish required data, analysis found 
the council publishes the majority of datasets, with the exception of information relating to social housing 
assets; though it was noted that the procurement information, organisation chart and senior staff salaries 
datasets are missing some of the information required by the Code. In addition, it was found that 
information published in relation to the fraud, pay multiple and grant payment datasets requires updating. 
At the time of the audit a review was being undertaken by the council’s Information Governance team to 
ensure that all information the council is required to publish is up to date.  

P
age 41



Page 28 of 42

Activity Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

In terms of the information recommended for publication, the only information routinely published relates 
to the fraud data set. Opinion: Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: One Medium Priority.
Recommendation relates to formally allocating responsibility for updating each dataset required by the 
Local Government Transparency Code and reminding relevant officers to update data in line with the 
publication frequencies set out in the Code.

Other consultancy services including advice & information (items in italics detailed in previous update reports)

Client service area Services provided

Town Centre Redevelopment Proposal -  
Financial Analysis

A thorough examination was undertaken of the accuracy of formulae within a spreadsheet prepared by 
Gravesham Borough Council to assess the financial viability of the proposal.

Corporate Debt Project One of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leaders was part of a project group overseeing implementation of 
a system to provide a corporate view of debt. 

Automated Invoicing Two of the Audit & Counter Fraud Officers were part of the project group overseeing implementation of 
the Creditors automated invoicing system.

Interreg  France (Channel) England Go Trade 
Project 

One of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leaders was appointed and has undertaken the role of First Level 
Controller for Gravesham Borough Council’s part in this project. 

Merchant Acquiring Services One of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leaders is part of a project group overseeing implementation of 
new Merchant Acquiring Services.

Repairs & Maintenance Supplies Management One of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leaders provided control advice as part of the procurement of a 
single supplier for the council’s Repairs & Maintenance function.  

P
age 42



Page 29 of 42

4. Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme 
The Standards require that: The chief audit executive must develop and maintain a quality assurance and 
improvement programme that covers all aspects of the internal audit activity. A Quality Assurance & 
Improvement Programme (QAIP) has been prepared to meet this requirement.  The Audit & Counter Fraud 
Shared Service QAIP for 2017-18 was agreed by Gravesham’s Finance & Audit Committee in March 2017. 

The arrangements set out in the QAIP have been implemented with the collection and monitoring of 
performance data largely automated through the team’s time recording and quality management processes.  It 
should be noted that the results recorded below have not been subjected to independent data quality 
verification. 

In line with the QAIP, the team monitor performance against a suite of 25 performance indicators based on the 
balanced scorecard, covering the four perspectives; financial, internal process, learning & growth and customer. 
Performance targets have been set for 15 of the 25 indicators and outturns presented are those as of 31 March 
2018.  

Ref Indicator Target Outturn for report period

Non LA Specific Performance Measurements 

A&CF1 Cost of the Audit & Counter Fraud Service 
a) Total Cost
b) LA Share

N/A
£536,785
£193,242

A&CF2 Cost per A&CF day £400 £293
A&CF3 Proportion of staff with relevant 

professional qualification:
a) Relevant audit qualification
b) Relevant counter fraud qualification

75%

21%
57%

A&CF4 Proportion of non-qualified staff 
undertaking professional qualification 
training  

25% 0%

A&CF5 Time spent on CPD/non-professional 
qualification training, learning & 
development

70 days 89

A&CF6 Compliance with PSIAS 100% The External Quality Assessment 
(EQA) conducted in February 2018 
was positive with performance in 
line with or above that of other 
local authorities as per 
benchmarking; however, it did not 
provide a percentage of 
compliance.
Our January 2019 self- assessment 
showed full compliance with 94% of 
the standards, partial compliance 
with a further 4% and work 
required to address the remaining 
2%. 
We are working to address the 
areas that require improvement.

A&CF7 Staff turnover N/A There were no resignations during 

Page 43



Page 30 of 42

Ref Indicator Target Outturn for report period

the year, however, an internal 
candidate was successful in the 
recruitment for a new Audit & 
Counter Fraud Team Leader; 
resulting in a vacancy for a short 
period while a new Audit & Counter 
Fraud Officer was recruited. One 
officer also took flexible retirement 
from 01 September 2018, reducing 
to two days per week. This 
reduction in hours, along with those 
of other part time officers, leaves 1 
FTE vacant from the establishment. 

LA Specific Performance Measurements 

A&CF8 Average cost per assurance review £5,000  £3,805

A&CF9 Proportion of available resources spent on 
productive work 

90% 86%

A&CF10 Proportion of productive time spent on:
a) assurance work
b) consultancy work

65%
60%
5%

A&CF11 Proportion of productive time spent on: 
a) proactive counter fraud work 
b) reactive counter fraud work 

35%
2%
33%

A&CF12 Proportion of agreed assurance 
assignments:
a) Delivered
b) Underway

95%

95%
0%

A&CF13 Proportion of assignments completed within 
allocated day budget

90% 65%

A&CF14 Proportion of completed reviews subject to 
a second stage (senior management) quality 
control check in addition to the primary 
quality control review

10% 50%

A&CF15 Proportion of recommended actions agreed 
by client management

90% 100%

A&CF16 Number of recommendations agreed that 
are:
a) not yet due
b) Implemented
c) Outstanding

N/A

13
98
9

A&CF17 Proportion of recommended actions 
implemented by agreed date

N/A 91.6%

A&CF18 Number of referrals received N/A 91

A&CF19 Number of investigations closed N/A 69

A&CF20 Value of fraud losses identified, by fraud 
type 

N/A Total: £166,760

Page 44



Page 31 of 42

Ref Indicator Target Outturn for report period

a) cashable (losses that can be recovered)

b) non-cashable (notional savings based on 
national estimates)

a) £13,860

b) £72,000

Also a prevented loss of £80,900
A&CF21 Customer satisfaction with individual 

review/assignment
95% 100% positive for overall 

satisfaction (based on four response 
received during the year), although 
opportunities for improvement 
have been identified in relation to 
the period of notice before work 
commenced and the length of time 
to issue reports.

A&CF22 Customer satisfaction with overall service 95% The results of the survey indicate 
that clients are largely satisfied with 
the services received from Audit & 
Counter Fraud, with eight of the 11 
respondents saying they were very 
satisfied or satisfied with the overall 
service; the remaining three gave a 
neutral response.

A&CF23 Member satisfaction with assurance 
provided (based on Chair of Audit 
Committee contribution to Appraisal of the 
Head of Audit & Counter Fraud role)

Positive Cllr Karen Hurdle provided the 
following comments for the HIACF 
mid-year review in September; 
James provides the Finance and 
Audit Committee with detailed 
updates and reports on the 
progress of the Audit and Counter 
Fraud Team.  He is readily able to 
answer questions from the 
committee and explain procedures 
and outcomes clearly.
I am sure that in his role as Head of 
the Audit and Counter Fraud Shared 
Service, James and the Team will 
continue to provide an excellent 
service to The council.
No comments were received ahead 
of the end of year appraisal.

A&CF24 Statement of external audit Positive External Audit report by exception.
The Audit Plan for 2018-19 from 
Grant Thornton raises no concerns 
in relation to the work of internal 
audit. 

Page 45



Page 32 of 42

5. Follow up of agreed recommendations
Where the work of the team finds opportunities to strengthen the council’s risk management, governance 
and/or control arrangements, the team make and agree recommendations for improvement with service 
managers.  The Standards require that a follow-up process is established: to monitor and ensure that 
management actions have been effectively implemented or that senior management has accepted the risk of not 
taking action. As with all audit work, resources should be prioritised based on risk. 

Following the launch of the shared service, the follow up arrangements in place at both Gravesham and 
Medway were reviewed and a revised process, consistent across both sites, was agreed with senior 
management.  It was agreed that service managers will be asked to provide an update on action taken towards 
implementing all recommendations agreed, but they will also be asked to supply evidence to confirm the action 
stated for all High Priority recommendations and the Audit & Counter Fraud Team will verify this.  In addition, 
recommendations made as part of proactive and reactive counter fraud work will be incorporated into the 
follow up process to ensure action is taken to address fraud risks identified.  The outcome of follow up work has 
been monitored by the council’s Management Team on a quarterly basis throughout the year. 

The table below sets out the position of all recommendations which have formed part of the recommendation 
follow-up process during the 2018-19 financial year. 

Page 46



Page 33 of 42

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title

Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with 
management

Proportion of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive management 

response has been received
Planning 
Enforcement

Opinion: Amber
Seven recommendations agreed: three high, three medium and one low priority. 
Recommendations related to the publication of policy and guidance on the council’s 
website and the development of procedure notes for staff, improving arrangements 
to monitor planning conditions, prioritising investigations of reports received and 
introducing specific arrangements to ensure all staff declare any interests.

Seven recommendations due, seven 
implemented.

Section 106 
Agreements  & 
Other Planning 
Obligations  

Opinion: Amber
Five recommendations agreed: three high and two low priority. 
Recommendations related to improving consistency of Management Team reports 
requesting changes to the establishment, ensuring appropriate formal agreements 
are in place where external contracted staff are used, and ensuring the salaries 
budget and information held by HR/payroll are regularly reconciled.  

Five recommendations due, five implemented.

Council Tax 
Discounts, 
Disregards & 
Exemptions

Opinion: Amber
Five recommendations agreed: three high, one medium and one low priority.
Recommendations related to ensuring that applications are completed and evidence 
checked in respect of all discounts, disregards and exemptions that reviews are 
undertaken in a timely manner, to ensure that procedure notes are up to date and 
audit trails are maintained.

Five recommendations due, five implemented.

Private Housing 
Enforcement

Opinion: Amber
Three recommendations agreed: one high and two medium. priority
Recommendations related to appropriate records being maintained for PI15, the 
updating of the private housing enforcement policy and gaining understanding of 
whether Category two and non-urgent service requests are being handled in a 
timely manner.

Three recommendations due, two 
implemented.
One medium priority recommendation 
outstanding relating to the updating of the 
private housing enforcement policy.

Homelessness Opinion: Green
Three recommendations agreed: two medium and one low priority. 
Recommendations related to ensuring that the council’s homelessness strategy is up 
to date, ensuring that temporary accommodation placements are appropriately 
authorised, and setting a budget to monitor bed & breakfast expenditure

Three recommendations due, three 
implemented. 

Strategic Asset 
Management

Opinion: Amber
Six recommendations agreed: three high and three medium priority. 

Six recommendations due, six implemented. 

P
age 47



Page 34 of 42

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title

Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with 
management

Proportion of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive management 

response has been received
Recommendations related to the updating and approval of existing policies and the 
council’s Constitution, arrangements for ensuring that records held by Finance and 
property Services align, ensuring that the council is making best use of the system 
currently used for maintaining its asset register, and the updating and approval of an 
existing policy.

Capital Planned 
Works 
Management

Opinion: Green
One low priority recommendation agreed. 
The recommendation related to more effective use of the council website and social 
media.

One recommendation due, one implemented.

NNDR Reliefs Opinion: Amber
Six recommendations agreed: three high, one medium and two low priority. 
Recommendations related to information available on the councils website, 
discretionary rate relief criteria, use of application forms & declaration statements, 
and processes for determining charitable status and rate reliefs.

Six recommendations due, six implemented. 

Business Continuity 
(IT)

Opinion: Red
Four recommendations agreed: two high and two medium priority. 
Recommendations related to regular reviews of the IT continuity plan and 
overarching business continuity plan, training for staff involved with implementing 
the plan and testing of backup servers and generators.  

Four recommendations due, four implemented.

Prevention of 
Procurement Fraud

Opinion: Amber
Four recommendations agreed: one high and three medium priority. 
Recommendations related to updating the Procurement Strategy, reviewing and 
formalising arrangements to secure procurement advice, strengthening controls to 
ensure all procurement activity specifically excludes suppliers convicted of fraud, 
bribery or corruption and ensuring transparency data is published in full on a timely 
basis.

Four recommendations due, four implemented. 

Prevention of Right 
to Buy Fraud

Opinion: Amber 
Eight recommendations agreed: five high and three medium priority. 
Recommendations related to the introduction of secondary application forms, 
money laundering questionnaires, updates to the housing business plan, ID 
verification for all applicants, un-notified visits to all applicants, written procedures 
covering the verification process, the introduction of an enforcement policy and 
publicity of any positive actions taken in respect of right to buy fraud.

Eight recommendations due, eight 
implemented. 

P
age 48



Page 35 of 42

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title

Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with 
management

Proportion of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive management 

response has been received
One recommendation rejected, relating to the introduction of an enforcement 
policy. This is to be incorporated into verification procedures instead.

Payroll Opinion: Amber 
Four recommendations agreed: one high and three medium priority. 
Recommendations related to signing of the Payroll contract, General Ledger 
reconciliation and receipt of reports from Medway Council to provide assurance on 
the service received.

Four recommendations due, four implemented. 

Housing Rents Opinion: Amber 
Four recommendations agreed: two high and two medium priority. 
Recommendations related to discussions on the use of Enforcement Officers to 
recover former tenant arears; further measures to ensure that Direct Debits are 
collected in a timely manner; updating the procedure documents supporting the 
recovery of current and former tenant arrears; and, making details of the rent 
balance tracker available on the back of all rent arrears letters.

Four recommendations due, three 
implemented.
One high priority recommendation outstanding 
relating to discussions on the use of 
Enforcement Officers to recover former tenant 
arears.

Use of Council 
Vehicles

Opinion: Amber
Seven recommendations agreed: one high priority, one medium and five low. 
Recommendations related to a policy with a definition of acceptable use, monitoring 
of fuel, use of council vehicles by officers from shared services, monitoring of tracker 
data on fleet vehicles, recording of mileage incurred using lease pool vehicles and 
the cost effectiveness of lease pool vehicles.

Seven recommendations due, seven 
implemented. 

Corporate 
Governance

Opinion: Amber
Two recommendations agreed: one high and one medium priority. 
Recommendations relate to completion of a planned review of the Constitution and 
ensuring up to date counter fraud policies are provided on the council’s website. 
One high priority recommendation rejected relating to formalising arrangements to 
monitor completion of improvements identified via the AGS. 

Two recommendations due, two implemented. 

Risk Management 
Framework

Opinion: Amber
Three recommendations agreed: two medium and one low priority. 
Recommendations relate to ensuring that service risk registers are fully completed, 
ensuring roles and responsibilities are clear and ensuring an appropriate link 
between corporate and service level risk management processes. 

Three recommendations due, three 
implemented.

P
age 49



Page 36 of 42

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title

Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with 
management

Proportion of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive management 

response has been received
One medium priority recommendation rejected relating to staff guidance on the risk 
register template. 

IT Security – User 
Access Controls 

Opinion: Amber
Four recommendations agreed: one high priority and three medium. 
Recommendations relate to completion of work required for the PSN connection, 
the updating and circulation of IT related policies, and ensuring that password re-set 
options are activated. 

Four recommendations due, three 
implemented.
One high priority recommendation outstanding 
relating to completion of work required for the 
PSN connection.

Digital 
Transformation

Opinion: Green. 
One medium priority recommendation agreed. 
Recommendation relates to implementing a process for conducting post-
implementation reviews for all digital transformation projects.

One recommendation due, one implemented.

Legal & Contractual 
Advice

Opinion: Amber 
One medium priority recommendation agreed. 
Recommendation relates to creating a suite of KPIs; that include all necessary 
information, and a reporting schedule being agreed by senior management.

One recommendation due, one implemented.

NNDR Opinion: Green. 
One medium priority recommendation agreed.
Recommendation relates to consideration of data matching between council 
systems, data sharing between departments and ensuring compliance with the 
GDPR.

One recommendation due, none implemented.
One medium priority recommendation 
outstanding relating to consideration of data 
matching between council systems, data 
sharing between departments and ensuring 
compliance with the GDPR.

Member 
Development

Opinion: Green. 
One low priority recommendation agreed. 
Recommendation relates to Party Leaders being provided with attendance 
information on a quarterly basis.

One recommendation due, one implemented.

Creditors Opinion: Amber. 
Six recommendations agreed; three high, two medium and one low priority.
Recommendations relate to appropriate staff being reminded of the need to raise 
purchase orders in relation to all purchases, Managers being reminded that invoices 
for goods and services should not be paid via petty cash, that petty cash claims 
should not be authorised by Managers who do not have appropriate authorisation 
or are above their limit, Managers not authorising their own or close relatives petty 
cash claims, float holders being reminded to include remaining balances on the 

Six recommendations due, six implemented.

P
age 50



Page 37 of 42

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title

Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with 
management

Proportion of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive management 

response has been received
information provided to Exchequer Services and Management Team considering the 
removal of petty cash and switching the processing of expenses through the HR 
SelfServe4You system

Borough Market – 
Income

Opinion: Amber. 
Five recommendations agreed; five medium priority.
Recommendations relate to enhancing procedures for the agreement and review of 
pitch fees, applying the correct VAT treatment for deposit invoices, ensuring 
consistent recovery procedures are followed, and ensuring that comprehensive 
records are retained of all cash payments received

Five recommendations due, five implemented.

Business Continuity No Opinion Delivered – Consultancy Review
Four recommendations agreed; one high, two medium and one low priority.
Recommendations relate to the re-designing of BCP templates, a programme of 
learning for managers, the incorporation of an audit trail in the BCP for reviews and 
testing and the identification of key essential services.

Four recommendations due, three 
implemented. 
One high priority recommendation outstanding 
relating to a programme of learning for 
managers.

Housing Revenue 
Account Building 
Management – 
Compliancy

Opinion: Amber. 
Six recommendations agreed; two high, one medium and three low priority.
Recommendations relate to enhancement of processes for tackling access issues 
which prevent checks from being carried out, ensuring the electrical contract 
contains KPIs which are regularly monitored, investigating methods of ensuring 
safety compliance in leasehold properties, reviewing processes for budget 
monitoring, ensuring certificates are stored appropriately and streamlining 
processes for monitoring failed checks

Six recommendations due, six implemented.

Void Property 
Management & Re-
let

Opinion: Amber. 
Five recommendations agreed; two high and three medium priority.
Recommendations relate to the introduction of a Voids Policy which includes 
procedure notes, amending the tenancy handbook to include basic repairs that 
tenants are expected to complete, ensuring all recording methods are updated 
regularly to ensure records of every element of the process are correct, a review of 
the re-let process and refresher training for officers on use of the Locata system.

Five recommendations due, five implemented. 

Building Security Opinion: Amber. 
Five recommendations agreed; three high and two medium priority.
Recommendations relate to finalisation of the Security Policy, enhancement of 
arrangements for managing the Access Control System and enhancement of 
arrangements for managing temporary passes.

Five recommendations due, four implemented.
One high priority recommendation outstanding 
relating to enhancement of arrangements for 
managing the Access Control System.

P
age 51



Page 38 of 42

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title

Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with 
management

Proportion of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive management 

response has been received
Contact Centre 
Operations

Opinion: Green. 
Four recommendations agreed; three medium and one low priority.
Recommendations relate to aligning the period of the Customer Service and Access 
Strategy to that of the corporate plan, resuming the monitoring of webchat 
performance, Customer Services champions attending the team meetings of other 
services and a review of the main reception area as part of the strategy review.

Four recommendations due, three 
implemented.
One medium priority recommendation 
outstanding relating to a review of the main 
reception area as part of the strategy review.

NNDR Recovery Opinion: Green.
Two low priority recommendations agreed.
Recommendations relate to the scheduled monitoring of cases with the 
Enforcement Agency and reminder notices to be issued in line with Gravesham’s 
Corporate Fair Debt Policy.

Two recommendations due, two implemented.

Procurement 
Compliance

Opinion: Green.
One low priority recommendation agreed.
Recommendation relates to customer satisfaction surveys being completed for all 
relevant contracts.

One recommendation due, one implemented.

Rent Deposit 
Scheme

Opinion: Red.
Thirteen recommendations agreed, seven high and six medium priority.
Recommendations relate to ensuring loan applications  are appropriately assessed, 
authorised and consistently distributed, unsuccessful applicants being advised of the 
reason why, agreement forms being clearer to tenants and updated for landlords, 
appropriate certificates being obtained from landlords, reconciliation between 
Housing records and the General Ledger, training for Housing Needs Officers, 
verification of payment information for Letting Agencies, ensuring invoices are 
raised for all loans granted, deposit loans being held in appropriate scheme’s with 
the councils interest registered and the monitoring of loans.

Thirteen recommendations due, thirteen 
implemented.

Residents Parking 
Permits

Opinion: Amber.
Seven recommendations agreed, two high, three medium and two low priority.
Recommendations relate to deterring permit misuse through an improved 
declaration by the applicant and a means for the public to report misuse concerns. 
Improvements relating to the recording, retaining of information and decision 
making. A consistent approach by recording Zones on visitor permits. Income 
reconciliation to provide assurance permit income is accounted for.

Seven recommendations due, seven 
implemented.

P
age 52



Page 39 of 42

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title

Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with 
management

Proportion of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive management 

response has been received
Performance 
Management 
Framework

Opinion: Green.
Three low priority recommendations agreed.
Recommendations relate to an elected Member training document being devised, 
the Data Quality Policy being updated regarding point 5.8 and Appendix 4 and 
documented agreement from the relevant Portfolio holder being obtained for all 
targets. 

Two recommendations due, two implemented.

Bad Debt Provision Opinion: Amber.
Three recommendations agreed, one medium and two low priority.
Recommendations relate to ensuring all elements of debt within the council are 
considered, producing written notes on the methodologies being used and checking 
data used in calculation is accurate.

Three recommendations due, two 
implemented.
One low priority outstanding relating to 
producing written notes on the methodologies 
being used.

Establishment 
Management

Opinion: Amber.
Five recommendations agreed, one high, three medium and one low priority.
Recommendations relate to ensuring consistent information is provided for all 
requests to make changes to the establishment, ensuring that HR implications are 
formally considered for each change, preparing a policy or procedure note setting 
out the process for making changes to the establishment, reviewing forms used to 
make changes to the establishment on Resource Link and carrying out periodic 
reconciliations between the establishment list and salaries budget.

Five recommendations due, four implemented.
One high priority outstanding relating to 
carrying out periodic reconciliations between 
the establishment list and salaries budget.

Housing Allocations 
(Counter Fraud 
review)

Opinion: Amber.
Seven recommendations agreed: three high and four medium priority.
Recommendations relate to reviewing and, where appropriate, updating the current 
Allocations policy, refresher training in respect of document verification, applicants 
supplying original identification and supporting evidence in respect of all 
applications, application forms and supporting documents being retained in all 
cases, the introduction of a formal process for all direct let authorisations, an annual 
review of the housing waiting list and annual  declarations of interest being 
completed by all allocations staff.

Three recommendations due, three 
implemented. 

VAT Opinion: Green.
Three low priority recommendations agreed.
 Recommendations relate to improving VAT awareness to staff outside of Finance 
and implementing procedures in relation to VAT and bad debt write offs.

No recommendations due before 31 March 
2019

P
age 53



Page 40 of 42

Recommendations outstanding more than six months after scheduled implementation date 
Directorate Audit & Counter 

Fraud Review 
title

Recommendation Priority Planned 
Implementation 

Date

Management Update

Housing & 
Regeneration

Private Housing 
Enforcement

The Private Housing Enforcement 
policy should be reviewed and 
updated in line with the Housing 
and Planning Act.

Medium 31 December 
2017

The Draft Enforcement Policy still needs to be 
reviewed once the associated charging policy is 
finalised. We are working alongside other Kent LAs 
to share good practice across Kent. Revised 
implementation date to be confirmed following 
the necessary consultation and approval by 
Housing Committee on 25 September 2019 for 
adoption by Cabinet on 07 October 2019.

Housing & 
Regeneration
(Corporate 
Services)

Housing Rents The appointment of a Corporate 
Enforcement Agent should be 
further progressed to allow for 
the timely recovery of former 
tenant arrears.

High 31 May 2018 It is the intention to present a report to 
Management Team by the end of June 2019 
setting out a preferred route for procuring 
enforcement agent services. Revised 
implementation date 31 December 2019.

Communities Contact Centre 
Operations 

The review of the Customer 
Services and Access Strategy 
should include a review of the 
main reception area and any 
enhancements; such as reducing 
the meet & greet desk and using 
the screens in the waiting area 
and foyer in a more customer 
focused manner, be taken 
forward.

Medium 31 August 2018 Although outstanding at 31 March 2019, the 
recommendation has since been implemented. 

Corporate 
Services

IT Security – User 
Access Controls 

Work required to comply with 
PSN compliance requirements 
should be undertaken.

High 30 September 
2018

Although outstanding at 31 March 2019, the 
recommendation has since been implemented.

P
age 54



Page 41 of 42

Update on 2018-19 Audit & Counter Fraud Planned Work 

Ref Activity Day 
budget 

Days 
Used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

3 Partnership framework and 
shared working 
arrangements 

10 N/A Fieldwork 
completed, in quality 
control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - Arrangements have been put in place to ensure delivery of 
the council’s partnership and shared working projects.
RMO2 - Arrangements have been put in place to ensure projects are 
working in accordance with the requirements of the Partnership 
Framework.

11 Housing rent 
administration and 
collection

10 N/A Fieldwork Underway The review will consider the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - Rent liability is accurately calculated.
RMO2 - Adequate arrangements are in place for the administration 
of the Council’s rent accounts.
RMO3 - Adequate arrangements are in place for the accurate 
collection of rent.

13 Performance data 
verification

3 N/A Underway A&CF Officers are conducting independent verification of corporate 
performance information.

14 Out of hours services 15 N/A Fieldwork 
completed, in 
quality control

A consultancy review was undertaken to determine:
Whether there is an appropriate and consistent approach across 
services to compensate staff who provide an out of hours service.

17 Public Place Protection 
Order Enforcement

10 N/A Terms of Reference 
being prepared 

24 Private sector housing 
grants

15 N/A Fieldwork Underway The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - Arrangements are in place to facilitate and monitor the 
payment of Private Sector Housing - Disabled Facilities Grant.

26 Business continuity - back-
up arrangements 

10 N/A Fieldwork Underway The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - There are adequate backup facilities in place.
RMO2 - Appropriate measures are in place to ensure the 
maintenance of the IT business continuity plan.

P
age 55



Page 42 of 42

Definitions of audit opinions

Green – Risk 
management operates 
effectively and objectives 
are being met

Expected controls are in place and effective to ensure risks are well 
managed and the service objectives are being met. Any errors 
found are minor or the occurrence of errors is considered to be 
isolated. Recommendations made are considered to be 
opportunities to enhance existing arrangements.

Amber – Key risks are 
being managed to enable 
the key objectives to be 
met

Expected key or compensating controls are in place and generally 
complied with ensuring significant risks are adequately managed 
and the service area meets its key objectives. Instances of failure 
to comply with controls or errors / omissions have been identified. 
Improvements to the control process or compliance with controls 
have been identified and recommendations have been made to 
improve this.

Red – Risk management 
arrangements require 
improvement to ensure 
objectives can be met

The overall control process is weak with one or more expected key 
control(s) or compensating control(s) absent or there is evidence 
of significant non-compliance.  Risk management is not considered 
to be effective and the service risks failing to meet its objectives, 
significant loss/error, fraud/impropriety or damage to reputation.  
Recommendations have been made to introduce new controls, 
improve compliance with existing controls or improve the 
efficiency of operations.

Recommendation Priorities
High Action addresses a significant weakness to enable the achievement 

of key objectives.

Medium Action addresses a weakness identified that is not critical to the 
achievement of objectives.

Low Action is a system enhancement or improvement to the efficiency 
of the service. 

Page 56



Classification: Part A
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 11 June 2019

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
(Chief Audit Executive)

Subject: Audit & Counter Fraud Satisfaction Survey 2018-19

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform Members of the results of a survey aimed at identifying the level of satisfaction 
with the services provided by the Audit & Counter Fraud Team. 

Recommendations:

Members are requested to:
1. Note the results of the Audit & Counter Fraud satisfaction survey 2018-19. 

1. Background

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (Standards) require that: The Chief 
Audit Executive (CAE) must develop and maintain a quality assurance and 
improvement programme that covers all aspects of the internal audit activity. 

1.2 On 18 February 2019, the Finance & Audit Committee approved the Quality 
Assurance & Improvement Programme (QAIP) prepared to meet this requirement, 
which included a target for ‘customer satisfaction with overall service’.

1.3 A survey was issued to Officers and Members within the organisation to determine 
client satisfaction with the service.

2. Survey Results

2.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service with Medway Council has been in 
operation since March 2016, with 2018-19 being the third full year of operation. 
This was felt to be an appropriate time to issue a survey to Officers and Members 
of both organisations to receive feedback on the satisfaction with services 
provided by the Audit & Counter Fraud Team.

2.2 The report at Appendix 2 provides the detailed results of the responses received 
from respondents within Gravesham Borough Council.

Page 57 Agenda Item 6



2

2.3 Appendix 3 provides the summary of the combined responses from both Medway 
Council and Gravesham Borough Council to provide Members with an overall 
picture of the views across both organisations.

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 Nil 

Page 58



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities to: undertake an 
effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control 
and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance.  The Section 151 Officer of a local authority is responsible 
for establishing the internal audit service; Gravesham Borough Council has 
delegated this responsibility to the Section 151 Officer of Medway Council.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

An adequate and effective Audit & Counter Fraud function provides the council with 
assurance on the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of council resources 
in delivery of services, as well as helping to identify fraud and error that could have 
an adverse effect on the financial statements of the council.

Risk Assessment The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud team, provides a key source of assurance 
for the council on the adequacy and effectiveness of its internal control 
arrangements.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Page 59

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Corporate Plan The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team supports the council in achieving all 
of its objectives set out in the Corporate Business Plan but is particularly relevant to 
Objective 4: Sound & self-sufficient council. 

Crime and Disorder The Audit & Counter Fraud Team provides an independent and objective opinion to 
the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in 
achieving the organisations’ objectives. The work of the team combined with a 
sound internal control environment has a positive contribution to community safety 
in its broadest sense.

Digital and website 
implications

None.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no direct safeguarding implications to this report.

Page 60



Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council

 Satisfaction Survey 
2018-19

Gravesham Borough Council

Page 61



1 Introduction

1.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service was established on 1 March 2016 to provide internal audit 
assurance and consultancy, proactive counter fraud and reactive investigation services to Medway Council & 
Gravesham Borough Council. 

1.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards) require the service to develop and maintain a 
Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) that covers all aspects of the internal audit activity; 
which is designed to enable an evaluation of the internal audit activity’s conformance with the Standards and 
an evaluation of whether internal auditors apply the Code of Ethics. The Standards require the QAIP to include 
both internal and external assessments. 

1.3 The QAIP for the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service is designed to cover both the delivery of internal audit 
and counter fraud work wherever appropriate and to drive continuous improvement in the delivery of the 
service as a whole. Surveys are issued with all final reports to gauge client satisfaction in relation to individual 
reviews but with the service coming to the end of its third full year of operation, a wider satisfaction survey 
was issued to all Service Managers, Senior Management and Members of the respective Audit Committees for 
each council to seek views on their overall satisfaction with the service provided by Audit & Counter Fraud. 
The option was also given to cascade the invite to supervisors and team leaders where appropriate.

2 Executive Summary 

2.1 The results of the survey indicate that clients are largely satisfied with the services received from Audit & 
Counter Fraud, with eight of the 11 respondents saying they were very satisfied or satisfied with the overall 
service; the remaining three gave a neutral response. 

2.2 The key positives drawn from the survey are that the majority of respondents are happy with the current 
balance of the type of audit reviews undertaken and also with the balance of the depth of the scope based on 
the number of days available for each review. The majority also indicated that they are happy with the current 
format of reports and volume of information they contain. In addition, almost all respondents stated that they 
understand the role of the service and know how the team can be contacted. 

2.3 Areas for improvement have also been identified, the main one relating to communication with the wider 
organisation to provide a better understanding of the role of the service and how it supports the council in 
reaching its objectives and also in relation to the preparation of the annual Audit & Counter Fraud Plan. 
Accuracy of reports and the value of recommendations were also identified as areas that clients felt could be 
improved and while steps have already been taken to address this, further improvements will be sought. 

3 Survey Results

3.1 The survey was designed to focus on six keys areas, which are listed below with a brief explanation behind the 
views being sought;

a. Awareness of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team – As Audit & Counter Fraud is operated as a shared 
service, not all officers are on site at Gravesham every day, though the service aims to maintain a 
physical presence at all times. As a consequence views were sought to identify whether respondents are 
aware of how to make contact with and understand the role of the team. 

b. The Audit & Counter Fraud Annual Workplan – An Audit & Counter Fraud Plan is approved by Members 
on an annual basis following a comprehensive risk assessment. The questions asked were designed to 
identify whether respondents feel that they are adequately consulted on the plan.

c. Audit & Counter Fraud Services – The services provided by Audit & Counter Fraud can broadly be split 
into seven categories. The questions asked were designed to identify whether respondents are aware of 
the types of assistance available and which of these they feel add the most value to the work they do.  

d. Compliance with the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) Core Principles – The IIA Core 
Principles articulate internal audit effectiveness and should be present and operating effectively at all 

Page 62



times. While the service complies with these principles, views were sought to identify the extent to 
which those independent of the service agree. 

e. Audit & Counter Fraud Reports – The service issues reports for all reviews undertaken to outline the 
findings and, if appropriate, any recommendations. The questions asked were designed to identify 
whether recipients are happy with the level of information provided in reports and to seek their opinions 
on the content of any reports they have received.

f. Overall Satisfaction with Audit & Counter Fraud – Regardless of any opinions expressed in relation to the 
team, workplan, services, Core Principles and reports, officers and Members were asked if they are 
satisfied with the overall level of support and service provided by Audit & Counter Fraud.

3.2 A link to the survey was issued to the council’s Wider Management Team and Members of the Finance & Audit 
Committee, meaning that approximately 30 people were invited to provide their views and opinions; however, 
the option was also given to cascade the invite to supervisors and team leaders where appropriate.  

3.3 There were 11 responses on behalf of Gravesham and a breakdown of their roles is shown in the table below;

Role Number of respondents
Chief Executive / Director / Assistant Director / Chief Officer 8
Service Manager 2
Other Manager / Supervisor / Team Leader 0
Elected Member 1
Total 11

3.4 It should be noted that not all respondents have answered all questions, so the detailed results that follow are 
not all based upon 11 responses. 

Awareness of the Audit & Counter Fraud Service/Team and services provided

3.5 Several questions were asked aimed at identifying whether respondents are aware of the team and how to 
make contact, to determine whether further work was necessary to raise the general profile of the service. 
The responses received were as follows;

Number of respondentsQuestion
Yes No

Over the last two years have you had contact with or met anyone in the team 
regarding an audit or counter fraud issue?

11 0

Do you know how to contact the team about an audit or counter fraud issue? 11 0
Do you know where the team are based? 11 0

3.6 Respondents were also asked: How much do you agree that you have a good understanding of the role of the 
Audit & Counter Fraud Team?

3.7 The results show that all 11 (100%) respondents have had contact with the team and are aware of how to 
contact them and 10 (90%) respondents have a good understanding of the service’s role within the 

Page 63



organisation. This indicates that the general profile of the service among management within the organisation 
is good.    

The Audit & Counter Fraud Annual Workplan

3.8 The survey explained that the work of the Audit & Counter Fraud Service is largely driven by the annual 
workplan and provided a link to a copy of the 2018-19 plan as a point of reference; the following question was 
then asked; 
 

Number of respondentsQuestion
Yes No

Do you feel that you are sufficiently involved in the preparation of the team’s 
annual workplan?

10 1

3.9 Anyone responding with a ‘no’ was asked to tell us how their involvement could be improved. One comment 
was received and is detailed below; along with a response from the Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud 
(HIACF) on behalf of the service. 

Comment received: Whilst a draft copy is sent round it appears to be a tick box exercise and the decisions 
have already been taken.

HIACF response: This is a fair comment and I am fully aware that the plans for 2018-19 and 2019-20 have 
been circulated by email with any comments requested. It is not an ideal way to seek input from services 
and has unfortunately been the result of other circumstances impacting on my ability to speak to services 
individually. 
While the plan must be based upon our independent assessment of risks across the council, we do value 
input from the individual services as they will often be aware of issues that we are not and could therefore 
influence our decisions about the level of risk. That is something I really want to factor into the planning for 
2020-21 and I am already taking steps to address the issue moving forward having been making 
arrangements to attend meetings of all Directorate Management Teams in December 2019 as part of a 
consultation process for the 2020-21 plan. 

3.10 The responses indicate that the majority of respondents are happy with the level of involvement in the 
preparation of the annual workplan but the comment received was justified. As the response to that specific 
comment indicates, steps are already being taken to ensure that all services are involved in the preparation of 
the 2020-21 plan.

Audit & Counter Fraud Team Services

3.11 To establish whether respondents are aware of the services provided by Audit & Counter Fraud respondents 
were asked: Which, if any, of the following services were you aware that the Audit & Counter Fraud team 
provides? (Please tick all that apply).

Page 64



3.12 Respondents where then asked: Of the services below, which THREE do you feel add (or have the potential to 
add) the most value to the work you do? (Please tick up to THREE boxes).

3.13 The results are largely positive with approximately 63% (7) of the respondents being aware of all the services 
available from Audit & Counter Fraud and none indicating that they were not aware of any of the services 
provided.

3.14 As respondents were limited to choosing only three of the services listed when being asked which services 
added most value to their work, it is perhaps not surprising that the three main services, assurance reviews, 
reactive investigations and consultancy services, scored highest with scores of nine, seven and seven 
respectively. However, it does suggest that it may be beneficial for Audit & Counter Fraud to provide more 
information to the wider organisation on the benefits of the other services that can be provided.

3.15 Audit assurance reviews form the largest proportion of the annual workplan and an explanation of the types 
of assurance reviews was provided; with respondents asked to think about the 2018-19 plan and provide 
responses to the following statements:

Question: Do you feel the council would benefit from: Number of respondents
Fewer cyclical audits about our governance and financial system and more risk-
based audits of our current priorities and risks

4

Page 65



I’m happy with the current balance 6
More cyclical audits about our governance and financial systems and fewer risk-
based audits of our current priorities and risks

0

Question: Do you feel the council would benefit from: Number of respondents
Fewer but more in depth audits with more days available to complete the 
review

3

I’m happy with the current balance 7
More but less in depth audits with less days available to complete the review; 
allowing for more areas to be reviewed

0

3.16 The results indicate that the majority are happy with the balance of the types of assurance reviews 
undertaken and with the time made available for each, which determines the overall volume of reviews on the 
plan. 

3.17 A number of respondents do seem to feel that more focus should be on risk based reviews rather than those 
which are cyclical and occur more frequently. 

3.18  Compliance with the IIA Core Principles

3.19 The Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors ten core principles were expressed as statements and 
respondents were asked to confirm to what extent they agree or disagree with each statement.

3.20 All 11 (100%) respondents either strongly agreed, agreed or provided a neutral response for five of the 
statements but there were statements where respondents disagreed, these being;

 The team is objective and free from undue influence (independent) (two respondents)
 The team is in the right part of the council and has enough resources to effectively carry out its role 

(one respondent)
 The team communicates effectively about their role in supporting the council (two respondents)

Page 66



 The team provides risk-based assurance on the effectiveness of council processes to help it achieve its 
objectives (one respondent)

 The team is insightful, proactive, and future-focused in their work (one respondent)

3.21 It is clear from these responses that the service needs to improve its communication with the wider 
organisation to explain its role, especially in relation to providing assurance on the effectiveness of council 
processes as this is one of the key, and possibly must fundamental, element of the service’s work. It is likely 
that these both relate to the same respondent who indicated that they did not have a good understanding of 
the service’s role within the organisation earlier in the survey.  

3.22 The two responses indicating that people feel the service is not free from undue influence is of particular 
concern. Attempts will be made to gain more information from respondents, who are at present anonymous, 
to better understand the reason for their responses and seek to address any issues within the service or what 
may be inaccurate perceptions from those outside.   

3.23 It is hoped that the plans to have greater involvement with services in the preparation of the 2020-21 work 
plan will address the concerns around the team not being proactive and future focused by gaining a greater 
understanding of the challenges faced by services. This will also be disseminated to officers within the Audit & 
Counter Fraud Service for consideration when conducting audit reviews. 

Audit & Counter Fraud Reports

3.24 The views of respondents were sought in relation to the reports issued by the Audit & Counter Fraud Service 
as part of the assurance review process. Nine respondents confirmed that they had received one of the 
service’s reports in the last two years and were subsequently asked to provide their opinions;

Question: How would you have preferred to receive the findings of your 
review?

Number of respondents

A full report (Introduction, Executive Summary, Detailed findings and 
Recommendation Action Plan / Matrix)

6

A summary report (Executive Summary and Recommendation Action Plan / 
Matrix)

3

Another format 0

Question: Were you satisfied with the level of information provided in the 
report?

Number of respondents

No, it needed more information 1
Yes, it was about right 7
No, it needed less information 1

3.25 Based on these responses the majority of respondents are comfortable with the current format of reports and 
level of information provided, so no changes to the report format, in terms of content, are proposed as a 
result of the survey.

3.26 Respondents were also provided with specific statements about the reports they have received and asked to 
state how much they agreed or disagreed with each;

Question: Thinking about the report to what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statements;

Page 67



3.27 Those disagreeing with any statements were asked to tell us what we could do to improve our reports and two 
such comments were received. These are detailed below, along with responses from the Head of Internal 
Audit & Counter Fraud (HIACF) on behalf of the service.

Comment received: More recently, there does seem to be a need for reports to include recommendations 
that do not always appear to have a clear purpose. The team need to remember and be clear that they are 
here to provide assurances that processes and procedures are working effectively in practice, as well as 
making recommendations to address weaknesses or enhance existing controls. If there are no control issues 
found, it's perfectly acceptable for the report to contain no recommendations. Making invalid or poorly 
based recommendations undermines the integrity of the service in my view.

HIACF response: We are aware of this issue and agree that unnecessary recommendations undermine the 
work being completed. We are taking steps to address this issue through one to one meetings with officers 
and training at our bi-monthly team days.  

Comment received: I feel in some ways we have gone back in time and feel that the auditors (especially 
those with a fraud background) are looking for issues/problems, instead of providing good and practical 
advice on how we can grow and improve the service.

HIACF response: This is also an issue that we were already aware of and have been taking steps to address 
through one to one meetings with officers and training at our bi-monthly team days. We are working to 
ensure that all officers highlight positive assurance; as well as identifying any weakness in controls, with 
practical recommendations for improvement.

3.28 Three respondents indicated that the findings detailed in a report were inaccurate and this is something that 
would have been identified at the draft report stage. We are aware that the final opinion in at least two of the 
audits completed during 2018-19 changed following the issue of a draft report after inaccuracies in findings 
were identified. We have already taken steps to make improvements in this area and ‘wash up’ meetings with 
audit clients have been made compulsory for all reviews. These meetings are intended to provide services 

Page 68



with an early indication of findings and allow any errors or inaccuracies to be identified before draft reports 
are issued to a wider circulation, ensuring that any amendments to reports are clerical rather than factual.

Overall Satisfaction with Audit & Counter Fraud

Question: Overall how satisfied or dissatisfied are you with support available from the Audit & Counter Fraud 
Team?

3.29 While a number of issues and areas for improvement have been identified as a result of the responses 
received, eight of the 11 respondents (73%) were either satisfied or very satisfied with the overall service 
provided by Audit & Counter Fraud. The remaining three (27%) gave a neutral response.

3.30 As such it is felt that the overall satisfaction with the service is positive, although it is acknowledged that there 
is still room for improvement. 

Other Feedback

3.31 At the conclusion of the survey respondents were asked: Is there any other feedback about the Audit & 
Counter Fraud Team or the work we do that you would like to provide?

3.32 The comments received are detailed below, along with responses from the Head of Internal Audit & Counter 
Fraud (HIACF) on behalf of the service.

Comment received: When we asked the service to investigate a potential internal fraud, where we thought 
the service could really add value and insight, we were turned down so we are undertaking the 
investigation ourselves, which is not ideal, with the help of HR. My perception is that there is an emphasis 
on cyclical internal audits but that the gaps between returning to a particular function is too short.

HIACF response: The service will always respond to allegations of fraud linked to members of staff. 
However, any referrals received that relate to disciplinary matters are first discussed with HR to check the 
details of the allegation and determine the most appropriate course of action. This is largely because there 
is a requirement under the disciplinary policy for the officer to be advised that they are being investigated 
and by whom. On occasion, preliminary enquiries identify that there has been no informal action by 
managers to address the concerns raised and this normally prompts HR to refer the matter back to the 
manager for action as moving straight to formal disciplinary investigations may not be appropriate. 
I am happy to look into the individual case further if details are provided.

Page 69



Comment received: All members of the staff that have interacted with have been efficient and effective in 
their responses. I don't know if their resources are sufficient - it could be that staff members are giving 
more than would normally be expected but I can just say I am satisfied with the relationship we have as a 
service.

HIACF response: Thank you for the positive comment, which will be passed on to the officers within the 
team. 

Comment received: A greater understanding of employment law and how an investigation would be 
different to a prosecution/police case.

HIACF response: We have already taken steps to address this issue. Officers and managers within the 
service completed a training course with ACAS on 29 March 2019, which was focused on how to conduct 
disciplinary investigations and the requirements of employment law. As part of our drive for continuous 
improvement, we will be working with HR to review policies and also look at how parallel investigations, 
those requiring both criminal and disciplinary, will be co-ordinated and managed. 

Page 70



APPENDIX 3

Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council

 Combined Results of 
Satisfaction Survey 

2018-19

Page 71



Audit & Counter Fraud Survey

About You 

I am Responding for:

My role is:

Awareness of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team

There are currently 14 members of the Audit & Counter Fraud team who split their time between the 
Gravesham Borough Council and Medway Council Offices.

Question: Over the last two years have you had contact with or met anyone in the team regarding an audit or 
counter fraud issue? (Please tick one box)

Question: Do you know how to contact the team about an audit or counter fraud issue? (Please tick one box)

Question: Do you know where the team are based? (Please tick one box)

Page 72



Question: How much do you agree or disagree that, you have a good understanding of the role of the Audit & 
Counter Fraud Team? (Please tick one box)

The Audit & Counter Fraud Annual Workplan

The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud team is largely directed by the annual Audit & Counter Fraud Plan.

Question: Do you feel that you are sufficiently involved in the preparation of the team’s annual workplan? 
(Please tick one box)

Audit & Counter Fraud Services

Question: Which, if any, of the following services were you aware that the Audit & Counter Fraud team 
provides? (Please tick all that apply)

Page 73



Question: Of the services below, which THREE do you feel add (or have the potential to add) the most value to 
the work you do? (Please tick up to THREE boxes)

Audits (Assurance reviews) make up the bulk of the work that we do. The assurance reviews included in the 
Annual Audit & Counter Fraud Plan are split into two categories - ‘core governance and financial systems 
reviews’ which are scheduled based on the cyclical programme provided at Appendix A to the Plan and 
‘corporate risks and assurance reviews’ which are based on an annual assessment of the council’s current 
priorities and risks.

Question: Thinking about the 2018-19 Audit & Counter Fraud Plan, do you feel the council would benefit from: 
(Please tick one box)

Question: Thinking about the 2018-19 Audit & Counter Fraud Plan, do you feel the council would benefit from: 
(Please tick one box)

Compliance with the IIA Core Principles

As a team we have committed to working in line with the Institute of Internal Auditor’s core principles.

Thinking about the following statements, to what extent do you agree or disagree that the team:

 Demonstrates integrity in their work

Page 74



 Demonstrates competence and due professional care in their work

 Is objective and free from undue influence (independent)

 Aligns their work with the strategies, objectives, and risks of the Council

 Is in the right part of the Council and has enough resources to effectively carry out its role

Page 75



 Demonstrates quality and continuous improvement in their work

 Communicates effectively about their role in supporting the Council

 Provides risk-based assurance on the effectiveness of council processes to help it achieve its objectives

 Is insightful, proactive, and future focused in their work

 Promotes organisational improvement through their work

Page 76



Audit & Counter Fraud Reports

The end product for most of the Audit and Counter Fraud team services is a report summarising the work that 
has been carried out.

Question: In the last two years have you received a summary report from the Audit & Counter Fraud Team? 
(Please tick one box)

Question: How would you have preferred to receive the findings of your review? (Please tick one box)

Question: Were you satisfied with the level of information provided in the report? (Please tick one box)

Question: Thinking about the report to what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statements;

The report was clear and easy to read

The findings were accurate

Page 77



Any recommendations were relevant, practical and realistic

The review and any recommendations added value to the service

Sufficient information / guidance was provided to identify actions to address any recommendations made

Overall Satisfaction with Audit & Counter Fraud

Question: Overall how satisfied or dissatisfied are you with support available from the Audit & Counter Fraud 
Team?

Page 78



Appendix 3

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance and Audit Committee

Date: 11 June 2019

Reporting officer: Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Annual Treasury Management Review 2018-19

Purpose and summary of report: 
To report on treasury management acitivity during 2018-19 in accordance with the 
requirements of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA’s) 
revised code on Treasury Management (2017).

Recommendations:
1. The Finance and Audit Committee note the contents of this report.

2. The Finance and Audit Committee recommends to the Full Council that:

1) The revised authorised limits and operational boundary figures, as set out in this 
report are agreed.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Council is required by regulations issued under the Local Government Act 
2003 to produce an annual treasury management review of activities and the 
actual prudential and treasury indicators for 2018-19.  This report meets the 
requirements of both the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management (the 
Code) and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the 
Prudential Code).

1.2 In accordance with reporting requirements for each financial year, Full Council 
received the following reports for 2018-19:

 an annual treasury strategy in advance of the year (Council 6 March 2018)

 a mid-year (minimum) treasury update report (Council 18 December 2018)

 an annual review following the end of the year describing the activity 
compared to the strategy (this report, which will be received by Council on 25 
June 2019 through consideration of the Minutes of this meeting of the Finance 
& Audit Committee).

Page 79 Agenda Item 7



1.3 The regulatory environment places responsibility on Members for the review and 
scrutiny of treasury management policy and activities.  This report is, therefore, 
important in that respect as it provides details of the outturn position for treasury 
activities and highlights compliance with the Council’s policies previously 
approved by Members.

1.4 The report also provides confirmation that the Council has complied with the 
requirement under the Code to give prior scrutiny to all of the above treasury 
management reports by the Finance and Audit Committee before they were 
reported to the Full Council.

2. THE COUNCIL’S CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND FINANCING

2.1 The Council undertakes capital expenditure on long-term assets.  These activities 
may either be: 

 Financed immediately through the application of capital or revenue resources 
(capital receipts, capital grants, revenue contributions etc.), which has no 
resultant impact on the Council’s borrowing need; or

 If insufficient financing is available, or a decision is taken not to apply 
resources, the capital expenditure will give rise to a borrowing need.

2.2 The actual capital expenditure forms one of the required prudential indicators.  
The table below shows the actual capital expenditure and how this was financed.

2017/18 
Actual £m

2018/19 
Revised 
Budget 
£m*1

2018/19 
Actual £m*1

Capital Expenditure - GF 4.400 17.721 13.351

Capital Expenditure - HRA 12.657 13.383 10.783

Capital Expenditure – GF Housing 0.695 1.515 0.821

Total Capital Expenditure 17.752 32.619 24.955

Financed in Year 15.571 19.267 12.520

Unfinanced Capital Expenditure 2.181 13.352 12.435

*1 based on the Provisional Outturn Report 2018/19

3. THE COUNCIL’S OVERALL BORROWING NEED

3.1 The Council’s underlying need to borrow to finance capital expenditure is termed 
the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR).

3.2 Gross borrowing and the CFR - in order to ensure that borrowing levels are 
prudent over the medium term and only for a capital purpose, the Council should 
ensure that its gross external borrowing does not, except in the short term, 
exceed the total of the capital financing requirement in the preceding year 
(2017/18) plus the estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for 
the current (2018/19) and next two financial years.  This essentially means that 

Page 80



the Council is not borrowing to support revenue expenditure.  The table below 
highlights the Council’s gross borrowing position (external debt plus finance 
lease) against the CFR.  The Council has complied with this prudential indicator.

31 March 
2018 Actual 

£m

31 March 
2019 

Revised 
Budget 
£m*2

31 March 
2019 Actual 

£m*2

CFR General Fund (£m) 20.167 126.725 125.808

CFR HRA (£m) 88.665 84.564 84.564

Total CFR 108.832 211.289 210.372

Gross Borrowing Position 98.093 187.537 187.537

Under / over funding of CFR 10.739 23.752 22.835

*2 based on the Provisional Outturn Report 2018/19

3.3 There has been a significant increase in the CFR during 2018/19.  This is as a 
result of entering into the agreement with Reef to redevelop the St George’s 
Shopping Centre.  The agreement is a finance lease which has resulted in an 
increase in the CFR at the end of 2018/19 of £93.63m.  This will be reduced over 
a 50 year period through an MRP charge (Minimum Revenue Provision charge - 
statutory annual minimum revenue charge to reduce the total outstanding CFR).

3.4 The authorised limit - the authorised limit is the “affordable borrowing limit” 
required by s3 of the Local Government Act 2003.  This effectively relates to the 
setting of a maximum sum pertaining to debt financing, consisting of external 
borrowing and any long term liabilities of the council.  Once this has been set, the 
Council does not have the power to borrow above this level.  The authorised limit 
can be amended with Full Council approval.

3.5 The operational boundary – the operational boundary is the expected borrowing 
position of the Council during the year.  Periods where the actual position is either 
below or over the boundary are acceptable subject to the authorised limit not 
being breached.  The operational boundary limit can be amended with Full 
Council approval.

3.6 The original authorised limit and operational boundary for 2018/19 and future 
years were set prior to the agreement made with Reef Estates for the 
redevelopment of the St George’s Shopping Centre.  The authorised limit and 
operational boundary therefore did not reflect the impact of this agreement.  Once 
the agreement was put in place, both the authorised limit and the operational 
boundary for 2018/19 and future years should have been increased to reflect the 
impact of the deal, however this was not the case.  Therefore it is necessary to 
seek retrospective approval to amend the authorised limit and operational 
boundary for 2018/19 and future years.

Page 81



3.7 The revised authorised limits and operational boundary figures against those 
agreed by the Finance and Audit Committee in February 2019 are detailed in the 
table below.

Authorised Limit 2018/19 
Revised 

£m

2019/20 
Estimate 

£m

2020/21 
Estimate 

£m

2021/22 
Estimate 

£m

Previously agreed Authorised Limit

Debt (including HRA Settlement) 117.700 124.100 124.900 122.600

Other Long Term Liabilities 1.600 1.600 1.600 1.600

Commercial activities / non-financial 
investments

20.000 35.000 35.000 35.000

Total 139.300 160.700 161.500 159.200

Revised Authorised Limit

Debt (including HRA Settlement) 117.700 124.100 124.900 122.600

Other Long Term Liabilities 98.000 97.800 97.600 97.320

Commercial activities / non-financial 
investments

20.000 35.000 35.000 35.000

Total 235.700 256.900 257.500 254.920

Operational Boundary 2018/19 
Revised 

£m

2019/20 
Estimate 

£m

2020/21 
Estimate 

£m

2021/22 
Estimate 

£m

Previously agreed Operational Boundary

Debt (including HRA Settlement) 116.200 122.600 123.400 121.100

Other Long Term Liabilities 1.500 1.500 1.500 1.500

Commercial activities / non-financial 
investments

15.000 30.000 30.000 30.000

Total 132.700 154.100 154.900 152.600

Revised Operational Boundary

Debt (including HRA Settlement) 117.700 124.100 124.900 122.600

Other Long Term Liabilities 96.500 96.300 96.100 95.820

Commercial activities / non-financial 
investments

20.000 30.000 30.000 30.000

Total 234.200 250.400 251.000 248.420

Page 82



3.8 Actual financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream - this indicator 
identifies the trend in the cost of capital, (borrowing and other long term obligation 
costs net of investment income), against the net revenue stream.

2018/19

Authorised Limit (revised) 235.700

Maximum gross boundary position during the year 192.454

Operational boundary (revised) 222.700

Average gross borrowing position 199.770

Financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream 20.39%

4. TREASURY POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2019 

4.1 The Council‘s treasury position (excluding the St George’s Shopping Centre 
finance lease) at the beginning and the end of 2018-19 was as follows:

31 March 
2018 

Principal 
£m

Rate/ 
Return

31 March 
2019 

Principal 
£m

Rate/ 
Return

Average 
Life yrs

PWLB Loans 90.082 85.900

Stock Loans 8.000 8.000

Short Term Loans 0.011 0.012

Total Debt 98.093 3.17% 93.912 3.23% 5.79

Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR)

108.832 - 116.746 - -

Over/ (Under) 
borrowing

(10.739) - (22.834) - -

Total Investments 31.100 - 46.229 - -

Net Debt
(Total Debt minus 
Total Investments) 

66.993 - 47.683 - -

Page 83



4.2 The maturity structure of the debt portfolio was as follows:

31 March 
2018 

Actual 
£m

31 March 
2018 

Actual %

2018/19 
original 
limits %

31 March 
2019 

Actual 
£m

March 
2019 

Actual %

Under 12 months 4.193 4.27 50 4.831 5.14

12 to 24 months 4.819 4.91 50 13.418 14.29

24 months to 5 years 28.363 28.91 75 23.315 24.83

5 to 10 years 49.554 50.53 75 52.348 55.74

More than 10 years 11.164 11.38 100 0.000 0.00

Investment Portfolio Actual 31 
March 2018 

£m

Actual 31 
March 2018 

%

Actual 31 
March 2019 

£m

Actual 31 
March 2019 

%

Treasury Investments

Fixed Term Investments 3.000 9.65 8.000 17.31

Certificate of Deposits 7.450 23.95 9.000 19.47

Notice Accounts 0.000 0.00 5.000 10.82

Money Market Funds 0.569 1.83 4.296 9.29

Total managed in house 11.019 - 26.296 -

Property Funds 9.746 31.34 10.543 22.81

Multi Asset Funds 10.335 33.23 9.390 20.30

Total managed externally 20.081 - 19.933 -

Total Treasury 
Investments

31.100 100.00 46.229 100.00

4.3 All internally managed investments were for up to one year.

Page 84



5. THE INVESTMENT STRATEGY AND CONTROL OF INTEREST RATE RISK 
FOR 2018/19

5.1 Investment returns remained low during 2018/19.   The expectation for interest 
rates within the treasury management strategy for 2018/19 was that Bank Rate 
would rise from 0.50% to 0.75%.  At the start of 2018-19, and after UK GDP 
growth had proved disappointingly weak in the first few months of 2018, the 
expectation for the timing of this increase was pushed back from May to August 
2018.  Investment interest rates were therefore on a gently rising trend in the first 
half of the year after April, in anticipation that the MPC would raise Bank Rate in 
August which happened at the MPC meeting on 2 August 2018.  During this 
period, investments were, therefore, kept shorter term in anticipation that rates 
would be higher later in the year.

5.2 It was not expected that the MPC would raise Bank Rate again during 2018-19 
after August in view of the fact that the UK was entering into a time of major 
uncertainty with Brexit due in March 2019.  Value was therefore sought by placing 
longer term investments after 2 August where cash balances were sufficient to 
allow this.

5.3 Investment rose sharply after the MPC meeting of 1 November, however, weak 
GDP growth data after December, plus increasing concerns generated by Brexit, 
resulted in investment rates falling back again. 

5.4 Continued uncertainty in the aftermath of the 2008 financial crisis has promoted a 
cautious approach whereby investments would continue to be dominated by low 
counterparty risk considerations, resulting in relatively low returns compared to 
borrowing rates.

5.5 The graph below shows the London Interbank Bid Rate (LIBID - the rate at which 
banks borrow from one another) against the Bank of England Base Rate for 
2018/19.

Page 85



6. BORROWING STRATEGY AND CONTROL OF INTEREST RATE RISK RATES 
IN 2018-19

6.1 During 2018-19, the Council maintained an under-borrowed position.  This meant 
that the capital borrowing need, (the Capital Financing Requirement), was not 
fully funded with loan debt, as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances 
and cash flow was used as an interim measure. This strategy was prudent as 
investment returns were low and minimising counterparty risk on placing 
investments also needed to be considered.

6.2 A cost of carry remained during the year on any new long-term borrowing that 
was not immediately used to finance capital expenditure, as it would have caused 
a temporary increase in cash balances; this would have incurred a revenue cost – 
the difference between (higher) borrowing costs and (lower) investment returns.

6.3 The policy of avoiding new borrowing by running down spare cash balances, has 
served well over the last few years.  However, this was kept under review to 
avoid incurring higher borrowing costs in the future when this authority may not 
be able to avoid new borrowing to finance capital expenditure and/or the 
refinancing of maturing debt.

6.4 Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution was 
adopted with the treasury operations. The Director of Corporate Services 
therefore monitored interest rates in financial markets and adopted a pragmatic 
strategy based upon the following principles to manage interest rate risks:

 if it had been felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in 
long and short term rates than initially expected, perhaps arising from an 
acceleration in the start date and in the rate of increase in central rates in the 
USA and UK, an increase in world economic activity or a sudden increase in 
inflation risks, then the portfolio position would have been re-appraised.  Most 
likely, fixed rate funding would have been drawn whilst interest rates were 
lower than they were projected to be in the next few years

 Interest rate forecasts expected only gradual rises in medium and longer term 
fixed borrowing rates during 2018/19 and the two subsequent financial years.  
Variable, or short-term rates, were expected to be the cheaper form of 
borrowing over the period

Page 86



6.5 Public Works Loan Board (PWLB - part of HM Treasury which provides loans to 
local authorities to finance capital expenditure) rates peaked during October 
2018, most PWLB rates have been on a general downward trend, though longer 
term rates did spike upwards again during December, and, (apart from the 1 year 
rate), reached lows for the year at the end of March.

7. BORROWING OUTTURN FOR 2018-19

7.1 No external borrowing was undertaken during 2018-19.

7.2 No rescheduling of debts was carried out during the year as the average 1% 
differential between PWLB new borrowing rates and premature repayment rates 
made rescheduling unviable.

7.3 On 28 March 2019, a further loan the Council had taken on as a result of HRA 
self-financing matured. Loan principal totalling £4,101,000 was repaid. The 
Council has made a voluntary contribution of Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
equal to the loan principal in order to reduce the CFR accordingly.

8. INVESTMENT OUTTURN FOR 2018-19

8.1 Investment Policy - the Council’s investment policy is governed by Ministry of 
Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) investment guidance, 
which has been implemented in the annual investment strategy approved by the 
Council on 6 March 2018.  This policy sets out the approach for choosing 
investment counterparties, and is based on credit ratings provided by the three 
main credit rating agencies, supplemented by additional market data (such as 
rating outlooks, credit default swaps, bank share prices etc.).

8.2 The investment activity during the year conformed to the approved strategy, and 
the Council had no liquidity difficulties.

Page 87



8.3 Investments held by the Council – the Council maintained an average balance 
of £32.067m of internally managed funds during the year. The internally managed 
funds earned an average rate of return of 0.760%. The 3 month LIBID rate which 
is used as the most appropriate comparative performance indicator was 0.676%. 
Despite the continued low investment yields offered by financial markets, the 
average rate of return exceeded by 0.084%.

8.4 Property Funds – As at 31 March 2019 the Council achieved an average income 
rate of return on its investments and capital growth as follows:

Property Funds Average 
Income 

Return %

Capital 
Growth %

Lothbury 4.07 0.31

Hermes 3.50 3.82

CCLA 4.94 1.59

Total 4.05 1.68

8.5 Multi-Asset Funds – As at 31 March 2019 the Council achieved an estimated 
average income rate of return on its investments and capital loss as follows:

Multi Asset Funds Average 
Income 

Return %

Capital 
(Loss) %

JP Morgan 3.35 (3.01)

Jupiter 5.26 (8.73)

Aberdeen 5.23 (6.22)

Total 4.28 (5.37)

8.6 The Multi Asset funds continue to be a volatile and the loss experienced as at 31 
March 2019 reflects the fall in the value of equities over the past few months.  It is 
important to remember that these are long term investments, the value of which 
can go up as well as down.  Since the 31 March 2019, the value of these 
investments has increased but officers continue to monitor the position carefully.

8.7 Property Acquisitions – The purchase of commercial properties and land 
acquisition is not deemed a Treasury Management investment but a Service 
Investment. However there is a direct impact upon Treasury Management on the 
basis that any such purchase reduces the level of investable cash balances. 
Treasury officers will continue to liaise closely with Legal and Property to ensure 
that cash is available at the appropriate time to facilitate the further purchase of 
commercial properties and land as set out in the 2019/20 Capital Programme.

Page 88



8.8 MiFID II – On 3 January 2018 new EU legislation came into force that impacted 
upon the Council’s treasury management activity.  MiFID II (Markets in Financial 
Instruments Directive) was aimed at increasing investor protection by creating a 
more efficient, risk-aware and transparent market for investment services and 
activities. This legislation required the FCA to treat all local authorities as Retail 
Clients but did allow local authorities to opt up to an Elective Professional Client 
status if they met certain pre-determined criteria. The Council was not obliged to 
opt up but by not doing so could have precluded the Council from dealing with 
certain institutions or funds. The Council opted up to Elective Professional Client 
status with all the institutions that required it to do so and has ensured that during 
2018/19 it has continued to comply with the requirements of the institutions to 
maintain Elective Professional Client status.

9. BACKGROUND PAPERS

9.1 There are no Background Papers pertaining to this Report.

Page 89



Prudential and treasury indicators Appendix A

1.  PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2017-18 2018-19 2018-19

Actual Revised Actual

£m £m £m
Capital Expenditure
    Non - HRA £5,095 £19.236 £14.172

    HRA £12,657 £13,383 £10.783

    TOTAL £17,752 £32.619 £24.955
 

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream (This is the 
proportion of annual debt financing costs as a percentage 
of the council’s annual budget requirement)
    Non - HRA 3.67% 6.42%

    HRA 23.43% 26.07%

 

Gross borrowing requirement (inc finance lease)
    brought forward 1 April £101.677 £98.082 £98.093

    carried forward 31 March £98.093 £93.912 £187.537

    in year borrowing requirement (£3.584) (£4.170) £89.444
 

 Gross Debt £98.093 £93.912 £187.537

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) as at 31 March (This 
is the amount of capital spending that has not been 
financed by capital receipts, capital grants of 
contributions from revenue)

    Non – HRA £20.167 £126.725 £125.808

    HRA (applies only to housing authorities) £88.665 £84.564 £84.564

    TOTAL £108.832 £211.289 £210.372
 

Annual change in Cap. Financing Requirement 
    Non – HRA (£0.208) £106.558 £105.641

    HRA (applies only to housing authorities) (£3.504) (£4.101) (£4.101)

    TOTAL (£3.712) £102.457 £101.540

 

Incremental impact of capital investment decisions £   p £   p

    Increase in council tax (band D) per annum  * £8.62 £9.67

    Increase in average housing rent per week N/A N/A

Page 90



2.  TREASURY MANAGEMENT  
INDICATORS 2017/18 2018/19 2018/19

Actual Revised Actual
£'000 £'000 £'000

Authorised Limit for external debt (This is the 
maximum amount of borrowing which the council is 
permitted to undertake on a temporary basis to 
manage cash flow demands)
    borrowing £126,500 £137.700 £137.700
    other long term liabilities £1,600 £1,600 £98.000
     TOTAL £128,100 £139.300 £235.700
 
Operational Boundary for external debt (This is the 
maximum amount of borrowing which the council is 
permitted to undertake on a day to day basis and must 
not be breached other than for temporary cash flow 
demand purposes)
     borrowing £125,000 £131.200 £126.200
     other long term liabilities £1,500 £1,500 £96.500
     TOTAL £126,500 £132.700 £222.700
 
Actual external debt £98.093 £93.912 £93.912

Upper limit for fixed interest rate exposure
     Net interest re fixed rate borrowing / investments 100 % 100 % 100 %
 
Upper limit for variable rate exposure

     Net interest re variable rate borrowing / investments 25 % 25 % 25 %
 
Upper limit for total principal sums invested for over 
364 days £10,000 £10,000 £10,000

Maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing 
during 2017/18 Lower limit Upper limit

under 12 months 0% 50%

12 months and within 24 months 0% 50%

24 months and within 5 years 0% 75%

5 years and within 10 years 0% 75%

10 years and within 15 years 0% 100%

15 years and within 20 years 0% 100%

Greater than 20 years 0% 100%

Note: The figures shown in the tables above reflect the position as at the date of reporting.  They 
are subject to change during the final accounts process.

Page 91



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal AS PER SECTION 1.13B.67 OF THE COUNCIL’S CONSTITUTION, THE CHIEF 
FINANCE OFFICER HAS DELEGATED RESPONSIBILITY FROM CABINET. 

 “in respect of borrowing and investments to arrange such loans as are legally 
permitted to meet the Council’s borrowing requirements”

Finance and Value 
for Money 

A SUMMARY OF THE PERCEIVED RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH TREASURY 
MANAGEMENT WERE IDENTIFIED IN THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
STRATEGY APPROVED BY COUNCIL ON 6 MARCH 2018.  OFFICERS 
CONTINUE TO MONITOR THE RISKS ON A DAY TO DAY BASIS AND IDENTIFY 
MITIGATING ACTIONS TO MINIMISE RISKS.

IN ORDER TO ACHIEVE A BALANCED BUDGET, THE AUTHORITY RELIES 
UPON GENERATING MAXIMUM INTEREST FROM ITS INVESTMENTS WHILST 
MINIMISING THE EXPOSURE TO RISK.  IN ORDER TO ACHIEVE THIS, 
INVESTMENTS ARE ONLY PLACED WITH INSTITUTIONS WHICH MEET THE 
CRITERIA SET OUT WITHIN THIS REPORT.  INVESTMENT DURATIONS DO 
NOT EXCEED THOSE AS ADVISED BY CAPITA ASSET SERVICES CREDIT 
RATINGS WHICH ARE ASSOCIATED WITH THE SPECIFIC INSTITUTIONS.

WHERE THE AUTHORITY IS REQUIRED TO BORROW TO MEET THE NEEDS 
OF THE AUTHORITY, OFFICERS WILL SEEK ADVICE FROM CAPITA ASSET 
SERVICES ON TIMINGS AND OPTIONS IN ORDER TO ENSURE THE BEST 
DEAL FOR THE AUTHORITY.

Risk Assessment The risks associated with Treasury Management and capital expenditure are 
detailed within this report.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Page 92

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective 4 - Sound & self-sufficient council.

Crime and Disorder TREASURY MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES ARE CARRIED OUT IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY AND ANNUAL 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY WHICH MINIMISES THE RISK OF CRIMINAL 
ACTIVITIES.  THE ARRANGEMENTS TO ENSURE APPROPRIATE 
GOVERNANCE AROUND CAPITAL EXPENDITURE ARE SET OUT IN THE 
CAPITAL STRATEGY. 

Digital and website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



Annual Governance Statement - 2018-19: Finance & Audit Committee (11 June 2019)

Classification:  Part 1 – Public 
  
Key Decision: No
 

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 11 June 2019

Reporting officer: Stuart Bobby, Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Annual Governance Statement: 2018-19

Purpose and summary of report: 

To seek approval from Members of the Finance and Audit Committee of the Annual 
Governance Statement for the 2018-19 financial year.

Recommendations:
1. Members note the findings of the review of the council’s governance arrangements for 

2018-19.
2. Members approve and support the Annual Governance Statement for the 2018-19 

financial year.

1. Background

1.1 In 2016 the council’s Code of Corporate Governance (“the Code”) was subject to 
review to ensure the council’s arrangements are consistent with the core 
principles as set out in the ‘Delivering Good Governance’ framework, published by 
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance (CIPFA) and the Society of Local 
Authority Chief Executives (SOLACE). The council’s new Code was adopted by 
Full Council in February 2017.

1.2 To assess compliance with the Code, the council is required to conduct an annual 
review of the effectiveness of its governance framework and system of internal 
control. The results of this review, carried out in line with the core principles of the 
Code, inform the production of the council’s Annual Governance Statement, 
presented as part of the Statement of Accounts.

1.3 The Annual Governance Statement (AGS) is therefore intended to be a public 
assurance statement representing the governance and internal control 
arrangements adopted by the council. Following its approval by the Finance and 
Audit Committee, the AGS is required to be signed by the most senior officer and 
most senior Member of the authority.

Page 95 Agenda Item 8



Annual Governance Statement - 2018-19: Finance & Audit Committee (11 June 2019)

2. Review of Governance Arrangements

2.1 The review of the council’s 2018-19 governance arrangements was conducted by 
the Corporate Performance Manager in accordance with the principles adopted by 
the council’s Code of Corporate Governance, itself a framework designed upon 
the guidance issued by CIPFA/SOLACE. 

2.2 As part of this review, assurance of the effective operation of the council’s 
governance arrangements has been sought from a number of sources. All source 
material, including the results of the review itself, are itemised at appendix two of 
this report and have been previously shared with Members of the Committee.

2.3 The review established that the authority has adequate governance arrangements 
in place. Whilst no significant issues were identified, the review did present some 
opportunities to further develop and strengthen the council’s governance and 
internal control environment.

2.4 Members are asked to note the findings of the review of the council’s governance 
arrangements for 2018-19.

3. Annual Governance Statement 2018-19

3.1 The Annual Governance Statement for 2018-19 has therefore been prepared 
based on the findings of the review of governance arrangements.  A copy of the 
statement, including a relevant suite of actions for consideration, is attached at 
appendix three to this report.

3.2 Members are requested to approve and support the Annual Governance 
Statement for the 2018-19 financial year.

4. Background Papers

4.1    Background papers relating to this report are:

 Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: CIPFA/SOLACE 2016;

 Code of Corporate Governance: Gravesham Borough Council; and

 Annual Review of Governance Arrangements 2018-19 (and all supporting 
information itemised at Appendix Two to this report): 
Gravesham Borough Council

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 96



Annual Governance Statement - 2018-19: Finance & Audit Committee (11 June 2019)

IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                            APPENDIX ONE 

Legal The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011 place a statutory requirement on 
authorities to conduct a review at least once a year of the effectiveness of its 
system of internal control and to prepare an annual governance statement in 
accordance with proper practice in relation to internal control.  Proper practice 
has been defined as that set out in ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government’, published by CIPFA/SOLACE.  The review referred to in this report 
and the AGS have both been prepared with due consideration of this proper 
practice.

Assurances are sought from the Monitoring Officer in relation to ensuring all legal 
functions have been undertaken during the financial year.
The Monitoring Officer is also a member of the AGS Assurance Group and, as 
such, comments made by the Monitoring Officer have been taken into account in 
drafting the Annual Governance Statement.

Finance and 
Value for Money 

There is a statutory requirement for the Annual Governance Statement to 
accompany the Statement of Accounts.  Therefore it is intended that the draft 
statement is presented to the Finance & Audit Committee for approval so that it 
can ultimately be presented alongside the Statement of Accounts.

Assurances are sought from the Chief Financial Officer/Section 151 Officer in 
relation to ensuring all financial functions have been undertaken during the 
financial year.
The Chief Financial Officer/Section 151 Officer is also a member of the AGS 
Assurance Group and, as such, comments made by the Chief Financial 
Officer/Section 151 Officer have been taken into account in drafting the Annual 
Governance Statement.   

Risk 
Assessment

Failure to approve the Annual Governance Statement could expose the authority 
to the risk of receiving a qualified opinion on the Statement of Accounts.
The purpose of the governance review is to identify any potential areas of 
weakness or areas of further improvement, in order to minimise the risk facing 
the council in these areas.  Failure to take action in relation to the issues 
identified at section six of the Annual Governance Statement could have a 
negative effect on the continuous development of the governance arrangements 
operated by Gravesham Borough Council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence 
data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact 
Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor 
or the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Page 97

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


Annual Governance Statement - 2018-19: Finance & Audit Committee (11 June 2019)

IMPLICATIONS                                                                                                            APPENDIX ONE 
Equality Impact 
Assessment

Screening for Equality Impacts

Question Answer Explanation

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in 
the community?

     N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality?

    N/A

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as 
noted in the table above

Corporate Plan Ensuring the council has the adequate governance and internal control 
arrangements in place contributes to all aspects of the council’s Corporate Plan 
and specifcially to delivering Corproate Objective #4 - sound and self-sufficicent 
council.

Crime and 
Disorder

The Annual Governance Statement reviews all governance and control 
arrangements in place throughout the authority.  Whilst there are no direct 
implications in relation to Crime and Disorder, good governance makes a 
positive contribution to Community Safety in its broadest sense.

Digital and 
website 
implications

In terms of the council's governance arrangements, the council's digital services 
provide a key role in publishing a number of core documents and datasets. On 
approval, the AGS specifically will be published to the council’s website to 
finalise the review process.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

The Annual Governance Statement reviews all governance and control 
arrangements in place throughout the authority.  Whilst there are no direct 
implications from this report in relation to safeguarding children and vulnerable 
adults, the governance review has established the benefits of considering the 
safeguarding agenda in all core corporate decisons.

Page 98



Appendix Two 

Annual Governance Statement 2018-19: supporting evidence

Annual Governance Statement 2018-19: supporting evidence

1. Review of the corporate governance arrangements

A. Code of Corporate Governance: providing a definition of corporate governance
and the core principles of good governance in local authorities

B. Annual review of the corporate governance framework: conducted by the
council’s AGS Assurance Group

2. Sources of assurance

A. Assurance Statements

 Assurance Statements prepared by the Chief Executive and Directors

 Assurance Statements prepared by Assistant Directors, Service Managers
and other senior managers of the council

 Head of Internal Audit Assurance Statement

 Monitoring Officer Assurance Statement

 Chief Financial Officer Assurance Statement

B. External audit/inspection reports

 Grant Thornton: Audit Findings for Gravesham Borough Council 2017-18
F&A Committee: 12 June 2018

 Local Government Ombudsman: Annual Review 2017-18
F&A Committee: 11 September 2018

 Grant Thornton: Annual Audit Letter for Gravesham Borough Council 2017-18
F&A Committee: 11 September 2018

C. Chief Audit Executive Opinion

 Annual opinion on the control environment prepared by Chief Audit Executive

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  
Page 1 

 
  

Gravesham Borough Council: Annual Governance Statement 2018-19 
 
1. Scope of Responsibility 

1.1 Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) is responsible for ensuring that its business is 
conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards and that public 
money is safeguarded, properly accounted for and used economically, efficiently 
and effectively.  The council also has a duty under the Local Government Act 
1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in 
which its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness.  

1.2      In discharging this overall responsibility, GBC has established its Code of 
Corporate Governance which sets out a commitment as to how the council carries 
out its functions; the procedures, processes and control environment by which it 
undertakes to deliver its adopted Corporate Objectives. 

1.3 Approved by Full Council and adopted into the council’s Constitution, the Code of 
Corporate Governance is designed to be consistent with the principles of the 
CIPFA/SOLACE Framework; ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government’.   

1.4 In presenting the results of an annual review into the effectiveness of its 
governance framework, this Annual Governance Statement (AGS) outlines how 
GBC has complied with its adopted code during 2018-19 and, equally, also meets 
the requirements of section 6 (1) of the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 
2015 in relation to the preparation of an Annual Governance Statement. 

2. The Purpose of the Governance Framework 

2.1 The governance framework comprises the systems, processes, cultures and 
values that direct and control the council, and its activities, through which it 
accounts to, engages with, and leads the community.  It enables the council to 
monitor the achievement of its corporate objectives and to consider whether those 
objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost-effective services. 

2.2 The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is 
designed to manage risk to a reasonable level.  It cannot eliminate all risk of 
failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.  The system of internal 
control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks 
to the achievement of the council’s policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the 
likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and 
to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 

2.3 The governance framework has been in place at GBC for the year ended 31 
March 2019 and up to the date of approval of the Statement of Accounts. 

2.4 In order to secure corporate endorsement, this Annual Governance Statement 
was considered by the council’s Corporate Management Team on 28 May 2019 
before being formally approved by Members of the Finance & Audit Committee on 
11 June 2019. 

Page 101

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/185729/Code-of-Corporate-Governance-2017.pdf
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/185729/Code-of-Corporate-Governance-2017.pdf


 

  
Page 2 

 
  

3. The Governance Framework 

3.1 The policy setting and decision making process of the council is set out in the 
council’s Constitution.  The Full Council is the ultimate decision-making body of 
the council.  The Cabinet is responsible for most day-to-day decisions within the 
policy framework which are ultimately subject to scrutiny by the Overview Scrutiny 
Committee.  The Constitution also contains details of the council’s internal 
financial control framework, including comprehensive contract procedure rules, 
financial procedure rules and the scheme of delegation.  During 2018-19, work 
continued to review the Constitution to further strengthen the council’s financial 
control framework and reflect amendments to the council’s decision making 
processes. 

3.2 As required by section 5 (1) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, the 
council has appointed a Monitoring Officer.  The role of the Monitoring Officer 
includes ensuring the lawfulness and integrity in the operation of the council’s 
decision-making processes, supporting the work of the Standards Committee and 
the investigation and reporting on issues that embrace all aspects of the council’s 
functions. 

Strategic Planning 

3.3 The council has in place a clear statement of the organisation’s purpose and its 
corporate vision. To work towards this vision, the council’s Corporate Plan 2015-
19 sets out four clearly defined strategic objectives each supported by a series of 
policy commitments:  

• Safer Gravesham: where local residents and visitors can live, work and travel 
in a safe, clean and green borough; 

• Stronger Gravesham: a healthier more cohesive community where children 
have the best start in life and people are proud to call home; 

• Sustainable Gravesham: a thriving and sustainable local economy, built on 
the foundations of high quality regeneration and development projects; and  

• Sound and self-sufficient council: a well-run and innovative council 
supporting its staff to realise commercial opportunities whilst transforming its 
services to deliver at the best possible value for money. 

 

3.4 The Corporate Plan was adopted into the council’s Policy Framework, as defined 
by the Constitution, by Full Council in October 2015.   

3.5 It is the elected Members of the council who are ultimately responsible for the 
delivery of the council’s corporate objectives.  The council has strong 
communication channels between Members and officers and this has continued in 
2018-19.  Meetings are regularly held between officers and Members to discuss 
specific issues relating to individual portfolios and the progression towards the 
adopted objectives of the authority. 

 

 

Page 102



 

  
Page 3 

 
  

3.6 Whilst the elected Members have overall responsibility for the delivery of council 
objectives, individual service departments are essential to their success. Effective 
communication, both within departments and across the council, has continued to 
be supported through the Wider Management Team, consisting of the Chief 
Executive, Directors, Assistant Directors and Service Managers to help ensure 
consistent delivery of corporate messages. 

3.7 Departmental business plans are established to translate the corporate objectives 
into appropriately planned and resourced projects and interventions; the 
operational delivery of the Corporate Plan.  

Transparency 

3.8 The government maintains a commitment to increasing transparency across 
Whitehall and local authorities in order to make data more readily available to 
residents and allow them to hold service providers more readily to account. 

3.9 As a publicly funded organisation, GBC is committed to openness and 
accountability.  The council has published a series of datasets in line with the 
Local Government Transparency Code 2015 including; senior staff salaries, 
organisation chart, council spending to suppliers (over £500), details of new 
contracts and has also adopted a Pay Policy Statement. 

Performance Management 

3.10 The council’s corporate objectives are cascaded down through departmental 
business plans to individual employee appraisals and action plans. This helps 
ensure that the council works as a collective organisation towards the 
achievement of those set objectives and supporting policy commitments.   

3.11 The council has in place a Performance Management Framework (the framework) 
to standardise the mechanisms for managing performance against the Corporate 
Plan objectives and operational targets.  The framework is also used to help 
ensure compliance with established policies and procedures through discussion of 
service issues and the consideration of external reviews and Internal Audit 
reviews carried out within service areas. 

3.12 The framework establishes performance management meetings between Cabinet 
Portfolio holders, Directors, Assistant Directors and Service Managers.  These 
meetings are intended to focus attention on the achievement of objectives through 
action planning, the consideration of risk, monitoring and review as well as 
supporting the economical, effective and efficient use of resources. 

3.13 The framework enables performance to be measured periodically against the suite 
of performance indicators introduced by the Corporate Plan.  This identifies areas 
of good performance, as well as enabling progressive intervention to be taken on 
identified areas of under-performance. 

3.14 The council has established performance reporting procedures to Members.  The 
Cabinet receive quarterly reports across the full performance framework.  In 
addition, each of the Cabinet Committees receives regular reports on progress 
against the corporate objectives and performance indicators that fall within the 
remit of the committee. 

Page 103



 

  
Page 4 

 
  

Risk 

3.15 The council has a Risk Management Strategy that continues to be reviewed on an 
annual basis to reflect any future changes in the councils risk management 
arrangements.  The Risk Management Strategy sets out the approach that has 
been adopted for identifying, evaluating, managing and recording risks to which 
the council is exposed.  

3.16 In preparing the council’s annual Corporate Risk Register a thorough review of the 
risks already identified by the council is undertaken by senior officers of the 
council with consideration given to the identification of potential new risks 
alongside those identified within the business planning process. Progress made 
against any required action in relation to the risks identified in the Corporate Risk 
Register is reported to the council’s Corporate Management Team for review.  

3.17 The Finance & Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the effective 
development and operation of these risk management arrangements. This 
responsibility helps strengthen the council’s risk management environment 
through closer monitoring of the management actions specified in the Corporate 
Risk Register and in turn enhances contribution to the development of the annual 
Corporate Risk Register. 

Finance 

3.18 Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a council to ensure that 
one of their officers has responsibility for the proper administration of its financial 
affairs.  During 2018-19, this responsibility was held by the Director (Corporate 
Services) with a Deputy Section 151 officer also appointed - Assistant Director 
(Corporate Services).  Directors, Assistant Directors and Service Managers are 
responsible for the financial management of service areas within the council, 
which includes the effective monitoring of financial performance against budget.  

3.19 The council’s financial management arrangements conform to the governance 
requirements of CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in 
Local Government as set out in ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government’. 

3.20 The council has in place a 10-year Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) which 
sets out the forecasted budget for the council over the period.  This is supported 
by the Medium Term Financial Strategy that outlines how the council wants to 
structure and manage its finances in full consideration of the successful delivery of 
the council’s corporate objectives. 

3.21 In addition, the Finance & Audit Committee recommended to Full Council the 
adoption of the Treasury Management Strategy for the 2018-19 financial year at 
its meeting in February 2019; Full Council endorsed this at its subsequent 
meeting.   

3.22 A mid-year review of the council’s Treasury Management arrangements was 
undertaken and presented to the Finance & Audit Committee at its meeting in 
November 2018. This concluded with the committee recommending to Council 
that the revised estimates against the prudential and treasury indicators be 
endorsed; these were endorsed by Full Council at its meeting in December 2018.   

Page 104



 

  
Page 5 

 
  

3.23 Regular budget monitoring took place in 2018-19 in order to manage the council’s 
Net Revenue Budget.  Regular meetings are held between officers and the 
Cabinet Portfolio Holders to discuss any specific budget issues and budget 
monitoring reports were presented to the Finance & Audit Committee and Cabinet 
on a quarterly basis.   

3.24 The level of balances is reviewed annually in line with the budget setting process 
but is regularly reported to Finance and Audit Committee and Cabinet for position 
statements. 

Partnership and Joint-working 

3.25 The council is consistently seeking to identify innovative solutions in the delivery of 
its services. This can include the ongoing requirement for the scale of service, the 
method of service delivery, and any associated income opportunities. This 
comprehensive approach to service design encompasses the consideration of 
partnership working with public bodies and local agencies, including identification 
of shared service opportunities and these have been explored and implemented 
during the year as they have arisen. 

3.26 During 2018-19, the council’s Working in Partnership Framework was refreshed to 
account for the inclusion of the safeguarding and shared service agendas, 
alongside other procedural amendments. The revised framework was adopted by 
Full Council in April 2019. 

3.27 In support of the framework, as in previous years a comprehensive review of the 
council’s Corporate Register of Partnerships was undertaken to ensure all relevant 
partnerships are included and demonstrate their continued effectiveness, value for 
money and alignment to the council’s corporate objectives.    

Internal and External Audit 

3.28 The responsibilities of the Finance & Audit Committee include the consideration of 
reports from internal and external audit, and inspection agencies, as well as 
monitoring the performance of internal audit.  During 2018-19, the Finance and 
Audit Committee received and considered a number of reports from council 
officers and external bodies, enabling the committee to obtain assurances of the 
internal control and governance arrangements of the council and to monitor action 
in addressing any issues identified by these reports. 

3.29 The council has a shared Audit and Counter Fraud service with Medway Council. 
The service operates to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and CIPFA’s 
Local Government Application Note to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. 
The purpose of the team is to provide independent, objective assurance and 
consulting services to add value and improve the council’s operations. In doing so 
the team brings a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluating and improving 
the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes. The 
council’s internal audit arrangements conform to the governance requirements of 
CIPFA’s statement on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit in Public Service 
Organisations. 

3.30 The council also has an effective and professional relationship with the council’s 
external auditors, and statutory inspectors. 

Page 105



 

  
Page 6 

 
  

Counter Fraud Arrangements 

3.31 The council acknowledges the risk of fraud and has put robust arrangements in 
place to prevent, detect and investigate suspicions or allegations of fraud when 
they are received.  The Audit and Fraud update reports, presented four times each 
year to the Finance and Audit Committee, detail the work of the team. 

4. Review of Effectiveness of the Governance Framework 

4.1 The council has responsibility for conducting an annual review of the effectiveness 
of its governance framework, including the system of internal control.  The review 
is undertaken using the established criteria of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework; 
‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government’. In maintaining and reviewing 
the effectiveness of the governance framework, the 2018-19 review has therefore  
considered the following: 

4.1.1 The continued value and effectiveness of the council’s governance 
framework suite of documents as defined in the Code of Corporate 
Governance; 

4.1.2 Reviews carried out by Internal Audit, External Audit and other review 
bodies which generate reports commenting on the effectiveness of the 
systems of internal control employed by the council;  

4.1.3 The opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the council’s 
overall control environment from the Head of Internal Audit; 

4.1.4 The completion of control questionnaires by the Monitoring Officer, Chief 
Financial Officer (Section 151 Officer) and the Head of Internal Audit; and 

4.1.5 The completion of self-assessment control questionnaires by the Chief 
Executive, Directors, Assistant Directors, Service Managers and other key 
managers within the council. 

5. Conclusion 

5.1 In line with the council’s responsibilities for its internal control and overall 
governance environment (para 1.1), the conclusion to the annual review process 
for the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the date of approval of the Statement 
of Accounts is that the arrangements in place are considered to be fit for purpose 
and in accordance with the council’s governance framework, with no significant 
areas requiring attention.  

5.2 Opportunities with which to further enhance the existing governance and control 
environment are outlined in section six.  

5.3 Overseen by the AGS Assurance Working Group, the findings of the annual 
review of the governance framework were considered by the council’s 
Management Team on 28 May 2019 and subsequently reported to Members of 
the Finance & Audit Committee on 11 June 2019.  

Page 106



 

  
Page 7 

 
  

6 Governance controls: Development Plan 

The annual review of the council’s internal control and overall governance environment did not identify any significant issues. The review 
did however present a small number of opportunities for enhancement of governance arrangements that are outlined in the table below. 

No. Control Issue Required Action Target date 

1 Constitution  
Central to the council’s governance control environment, the Constitution 
ensures effective leadership throughout the authority, outlining the core 
executive and non-executive functions and the roles and responsibilities of the 
scrutiny function. 

Complete the next phase of the 
scheduled review of the council’s 
Constitution and re-issue to all Members. 
 

March 2020 
 

2 Investors in People (IIP): Action Plan 
Following the recommendations of the 2019 IIP assessment, the purpose of 
such a plan is to ensure that in delivering a progressive working environment, 
our staff are fully skilled and empowered to help the council respond to the 
challenges of the future. Work will include a Workforce Development Plan. 

To develop an effective action plan with 
which to build on the recommendations 
of the 2019 IIP assessment, ensuring the 
council develops an operational culture in 
line with industry good practice. 

March 2020 

3 Communications and Engagement Strategy  
Effective marketing and communications is essential in developing and 
delivering clear messages to: 
- Ensure an open and transparent culture in the organisation;  
- Communicate the information customers need to access services; 
- Engage the community in helping shape future service policy and provision; 
- Influence the behaviour and attitudes of local residents. 

In developing a Communications and 
Engagement Strategy the council will aim 
to establish the principles that will guide 
how we communicate and engage, in 
language that people can understand, 
and through readily accessible channels. 

March 2020 

4 Corporate Plan: 2019-23 
An essential component in the council’s governance framework, the Corporate 
Plan will set the tone and direction of travel for the authority in the coming four 
year period. Working towards the Local Plan’s strategic vision for the borough, 
the plan will identify a suite of corporate objectives and supporting operational 
policy commitments to determine the scale of projects and planned 
interventions aimed at improving the lives of Gravesham residents.  

Develop a new Corporate Plan for the 
council using the research and principles 
identified from the Community Profile and 
Corporate Plan consultation exercise, 
alongside the key pledges and 
messages established in the 
administration’s election manifesto. 

November 
2019 

P
age 107



 

  
Page 8 

 
  

Certification by Chair of the Finance & Audit Committee 

I confirm that the 2018-19 Annual Governance Statement has been considered and approved by Gravesham Borough Council at the 
meeting of the Finance & Audit Committee on 11 June 2019. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

………………………... 

Councillor Gurbax Singh 
 
Date………………….. 

 
 
 

Endorsement by the Leader of the Executive and the Chief Executive 

  
 
  

……………………….......         ………………………... 

Councillor John Burden         David Hughes 
Leader of the Executive         Chief Executive 
 
Date………………………         Date……………………… 

P
age 108



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 11 June 2019

Reporting officer: Emily McKeown, Grant Thornton

Subject: Audit Fee Letter 2019-20

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform Members of the external audit fee set for 2019-20.

Recommendation:
1. The Finance and Audit Committee is invited to note the external audit fee for 

2019-20.

1. Introduction

1.1 The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 established the arrangements for 
local auditor appointments, applicable to audits of the accounts of principal local 
government bodies from 2018-19 onwards. 

1.2 In July 2016 Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) was selected by the 
Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government to take on the role of 
Appointing Person for principal local government and police bodies.  After 
consideration by the Finance & Audit Committee Members, Full Council resolved 
unanimously to accept the invitation to opt into the appointing persons 
arrangements made by PSAA for the appointment of external auditors.  Following 
a procurement process managed by PSAA, the council accepted the appointment 
of Grant Thornton (UK) LLP as the auditor of Gravesham Borough Council for five 
years from 1 April 2018.

1.3 The letter at appendix two provides details of the audit fee for the Council along 
with the scope and timing of the planned work of Grant Thornton UK LLP and 
details of the staff responsible for delivering the audit.  

2. Contacts

2.1 Grant Thornton UK LLP are the authors of the report.

Page 109 Agenda Item 9



2

3. Background Papers

3.1 There are no background papers to this report.  

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 110



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal N/A

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The 2019-20 planned audit fee has been set at £41,036 - this is the same level of 
fee as 2018-19 and a 23% reduction on the fee of £53,294 for the 2017-18 audit.  

Risk Assessment N/A

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan There are no direct implications for the Council’s strategic priorities. 
The work of the External Auditor provides assurance of the council’s financial 
management arrangements and as such provides evidence of the delivery against 
Strategic Objective 4 - Sound & self-sufficient council.

Crime and Disorder N/A

Digital and website 
implications

N/A

Page 111

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 112



 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

   

 
   

   

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dear Stuart 

Planned audit fee for 2019/20 

The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the Act) provides the framework for local public audit. 

Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) has been specified as an appointing person under the Act 

and the Local Authority (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 and had the power to make auditor 

appointments for audits of opted- in local government bodies from 2018/19.   

For opted- in bodies PSAA's responsibilities also include setting fees and monitoring the quality of 

auditors' work. Further information on PSAA and its responsibilities are available on the PSAA website. 

All grant work, including housing benefit certification, falls outside the PSAA contract, as PSAA no longer 

has the power to make appointments for assurance on grant claims and returns. Any assurance 

engagements will therefore be subject to separate engagements agreed between the grant-paying body, 

the Council and ourselves and separate fees agreed with the Council. 

Scale fee 

PSAA published the 2019/20 scale fees for opted-in bodies at the end of March 2019, following a 

consultation process.  Individual scale fees have been maintained at the same level as in 2018/19, 

unless there were specific circumstances which required otherwise. Further details are set out on the 

PSAA website. The Council's scale fee for 2019/20 has been set by PSAA at £41,036 which is the same 

as in 2018/19.    

PSAA prescribes that 'scale fees are based on the expectation that audited bodies are able to provide 

the auditor with complete and materially accurate financial statements, with supporting working papers, 

within agreed timeframes'.  

The audit planning process for 2019/20, including the risk assessment, will continue as the year 

progresses and fees will be reviewed and updated as necessary as our work progresses. 

Scope of the audit fee 

There are no changes to the overall work programme for audits of local government audited bodies for 

2019/20.  Under the provisions of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, the National Audit Office 

(NAO) is responsible for publishing the statutory Code of Audit Practice and guidance for auditors. 

Stuart Bobby 
Director of Corporate Services 
Gravesham Borough Council 
Civic Centre 
Windmill Street 
Gravesend 
DA12 1AU 
 

 

18 April 2019 
Grant Thornton UK LLP  
110 Bishopsgate 
London  
EC2N 4AY 
 
T +44 (0)20 7383 5100  

www.grant-thornton.co.uk 

 

Page 113

http://www.psaa.co.uk/about-us/what-we-do/
http://www.psaa.co.uk/about-us/what-we-do/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-fees/2019-20-audit-fee-scale/
https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-fees/2019-20-audit-fee-scale/


 

 

Grant Thornton UK LLP. 2 

Audits of the accounts for 2019/20 will be undertaken under this Code. Further information on the NAO 

Code and guidance is available on the NAO website. 

The scale fee covers: 

• our audit of your financial statements; 

• our work to reach a conclusion on the economy, efficiency and effectiveness in your use of resources 

(the value for money conclusion); and 

• our work on your whole of government accounts return. 

PSAA will agree fees for considering objections from the point at which auditors accept an objection as 

valid, or any special investigations, as a variation to the scale fee. 

Value for Money conclusion 

The Code requires us to consider whether the Council has put in place proper arrangements for 

securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. This is known as the Value for 

Money (VfM) conclusion. 

The NAO issued its latest guidance for auditors on value for money work in November 2017. The 

guidance states that for local government bodies, auditors are required to give a conclusion on whether 

the Council has put proper arrangements in place. 

The NAO guidance identifies one single criterion for auditors to evaluate: 

In all significant respects, the audited body had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed 

decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local 

people.  

Billing schedule 

Fees will be billed as follows: 

Main Audit fee £ 

September 2019 10,259 

December 2019 10,259 

March 2020 10,259 

June 2020 10,259 

Total 41,036 

 

Outline audit timetable 

We will undertake our audit planning and interim audit procedures in November 2019 to March 2020. 

Upon completion of this phase of our work we will issue a detailed audit plan setting out our findings and 

details of our audit approach. Our final accounts audit and work on the VfM conclusion will be completed 

in June and July 2020 and work on the whole of government accounts return in July 2020. 

Phase of work Timing Outputs Comments 

Audit planning and 

interim audit 

November 2019 to 

March 2020 

Audit plan The plan summarises the 

findings of our audit 

planning and our 

approach to the audit of 

the Council's accounts 

and VfM. 

Page 114

https://www.nao.org.uk/code-audit-practice/


 

 

Grant Thornton UK LLP. 3 

Final accounts audit June to July 2020 Audit Findings (Report to 

those charged with 

governance) 

This report sets out the 

findings of our accounts 

audit and VfM work for 

the consideration of 

those charged with 

governance. 

VfM conclusion January to July 2020 Audit Findings (Report to 

those charged with 

governance) 

As above 

Whole of government 

accounts 

July 2020 Opinion on the WGA 

return 

This work will be 

completed alongside the 

accounts audit. 

Annual audit letter August 2020 Annual audit letter to the 

Council 

The letter will summarise 

the findings of all aspects 

of our work. 

Our team 

The key members of the audit team for 2019/20 are: 

 Name Phone Number E-mail 

Key Audit Partner  Elizabeth Jackson 020 7728 3329 Elizabeth.L.Jackson@uk.gt.com 

Engagement Manager Emily McKeown 020 7728 3091 Emily.Mckeown@uk.gt.com 

In Charge Auditor Ibukun Oluwasegun 020 7728 3116 Ibukun.O.Oluwasegun@uk.gt.com 

Additional work 

The scale fee excludes any work requested by the Council that we may agree to undertake outside of 

our Code audit.  Each additional piece of work will be separately agreed, and a detailed project 

specification and fee agreed with the Council. 

Quality assurance 

We are committed to providing you with a high quality service.  If you are in any way dissatisfied or 

would like to discuss how we can improve our service, please contact me in the first instance. 

Alternatively, you may wish to contact Paul Dossett, our Public Sector Assurance regional lead partner, 

via paul.dossett@uk.gt.com. 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

Elizabeth Jackson 

Key Audit Partner 

Grant Thornton UK LLP 

 

 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Annual Audit & Counter Fraud Report 2018-19
	APPENDIX 2 - GBC A&CF Annual Report 2018-19

	6 Results of Audit & Counter Fraud Satisfaction Survey
	Appendix 2 - Audit & Counter Fraud Report - Satisfaction Survey 2018-19
	Appendix 3 - Combined Results of Satisfaction Survey 2018-19

	7 Annual Treasury Management Review 2018-19
	8 Annual Governance Statement: 2018-19
	2. Appendix Two AGS - 2018-19 Evidence provided to members.pdf
	3. Appendix Three - Annual Governance Statement 2018-19.pdf
	1. Scope of Responsibility
	1.1 Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards and that public money is safeguarded, properly accounted for and used economically, efficiently and effectiv...
	1.2      In discharging this overall responsibility, GBC has established its Code of Corporate Governance which sets out a commitment as to how the council carries out its functions; the procedures, processes and control environment by which it undert...
	1.3 Approved by Full Council and adopted into the council’s Constitution, the Code of Corporate Governance is designed to be consistent with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework; ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government’.
	1.4 In presenting the results of an annual review into the effectiveness of its governance framework, this Annual Governance Statement (AGS) outlines how GBC has complied with its adopted code during 2018-19 and, equally, also meets the requirements o...

	2. The Purpose of the Governance Framework
	2.1 The governance framework comprises the systems, processes, cultures and values that direct and control the council, and its activities, through which it accounts to, engages with, and leads the community.  It enables the council to monitor the ach...
	2.2 The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level.  It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonabl...
	2.3 The governance framework has been in place at GBC for the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the date of approval of the Statement of Accounts.
	2.4 In order to secure corporate endorsement, this Annual Governance Statement was considered by the council’s Corporate Management Team on 28 May 2019 before being formally approved by Members of the Finance & Audit Committee on 11 June 2019.

	3. The Governance Framework
	3.1 The policy setting and decision making process of the council is set out in the council’s Constitution.  The Full Council is the ultimate decision-making body of the council.  The Cabinet is responsible for most day-to-day decisions within the pol...
	3.2 As required by section 5 (1) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, the council has appointed a Monitoring Officer.  The role of the Monitoring Officer includes ensuring the lawfulness and integrity in the operation of the council’s decisio...
	Strategic Planning
	3.3 The council has in place a clear statement of the organisation’s purpose and its corporate vision. To work towards this vision, the council’s Corporate Plan 2015-19 sets out four clearly defined strategic objectives each supported by a series of p...
	3.4 The Corporate Plan was adopted into the council’s Policy Framework, as defined by the Constitution, by Full Council in October 2015.
	3.5 It is the elected Members of the council who are ultimately responsible for the delivery of the council’s corporate objectives.  The council has strong communication channels between Members and officers and this has continued in 2018-19.  Meeting...
	3.6 Whilst the elected Members have overall responsibility for the delivery of council objectives, individual service departments are essential to their success. Effective communication, both within departments and across the council, has continued to...
	3.7 Departmental business plans are established to translate the corporate objectives into appropriately planned and resourced projects and interventions; the operational delivery of the Corporate Plan.
	Transparency
	3.8 The government maintains a commitment to increasing transparency across Whitehall and local authorities in order to make data more readily available to residents and allow them to hold service providers more readily to account.
	3.9 As a publicly funded organisation, GBC is committed to openness and accountability.  The council has published a series of datasets in line with the Local Government Transparency Code 2015 including; senior staff salaries, organisation chart, coun...
	Performance Management
	3.10 The council’s corporate objectives are cascaded down through departmental business plans to individual employee appraisals and action plans. This helps ensure that the council works as a collective organisation towards the achievement of those se...
	3.11 The council has in place a Performance Management Framework (the framework) to standardise the mechanisms for managing performance against the Corporate Plan objectives and operational targets.  The framework is also used to help ensure complianc...
	3.12 The framework establishes performance management meetings between Cabinet Portfolio holders, Directors, Assistant Directors and Service Managers.  These meetings are intended to focus attention on the achievement of objectives through action plan...
	3.13 The framework enables performance to be measured periodically against the suite of performance indicators introduced by the Corporate Plan.  This identifies areas of good performance, as well as enabling progressive intervention to be taken on id...
	3.14 The council has established performance reporting procedures to Members.  The Cabinet receive quarterly reports across the full performance framework.  In addition, each of the Cabinet Committees receives regular reports on progress against the c...
	Risk
	3.15 The council has a Risk Management Strategy that continues to be reviewed on an annual basis to reflect any future changes in the councils risk management arrangements.  The Risk Management Strategy sets out the approach that has been adopted for ...
	3.16 In preparing the council’s annual Corporate Risk Register a thorough review of the risks already identified by the council is undertaken by senior officers of the council with consideration given to the identification of potential new risks along...
	3.17 The Finance & Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the effective development and operation of these risk management arrangements. This responsibility helps strengthen the council’s risk management environment through closer monitoring of...
	Finance
	3.18 Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a council to ensure that one of their officers has responsibility for the proper administration of its financial affairs.  During 2018-19, this responsibility was held by the Director (Corpora...
	3.19 The council’s financial management arrangements conform to the governance requirements of CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government as set out in ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government’.
	3.20 The council has in place a 10-year Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) which sets out the forecasted budget for the council over the period.  This is supported by the Medium Term Financial Strategy that outlines how the council wants to structure a...
	3.21 In addition, the Finance & Audit Committee recommended to Full Council the adoption of the Treasury Management Strategy for the 2018-19 financial year at its meeting in February 2019; Full Council endorsed this at its subsequent meeting.
	3.22 A mid-year review of the council’s Treasury Management arrangements was undertaken and presented to the Finance & Audit Committee at its meeting in November 2018. This concluded with the committee recommending to Council that the revised estimate...
	3.23 Regular budget monitoring took place in 2018-19 in order to manage the council’s Net Revenue Budget.  Regular meetings are held between officers and the Cabinet Portfolio Holders to discuss any specific budget issues and budget monitoring reports...
	3.24 The level of balances is reviewed annually in line with the budget setting process but is regularly reported to Finance and Audit Committee and Cabinet for position statements.
	Partnership and Joint-working
	3.25 The council is consistently seeking to identify innovative solutions in the delivery of its services. This can include the ongoing requirement for the scale of service, the method of service delivery, and any associated income opportunities. This...
	3.26 During 2018-19, the council’s Working in Partnership Framework was refreshed to account for the inclusion of the safeguarding and shared service agendas, alongside other procedural amendments. The revised framework was adopted by Full Council in ...
	3.27 In support of the framework, as in previous years a comprehensive review of the council’s Corporate Register of Partnerships was undertaken to ensure all relevant partnerships are included and demonstrate their continued effectiveness, value for ...
	Internal and External Audit
	3.28 The responsibilities of the Finance & Audit Committee include the consideration of reports from internal and external audit, and inspection agencies, as well as monitoring the performance of internal audit.  During 2018-19, the Finance and Audit ...
	3.29 The council has a shared Audit and Counter Fraud service with Medway Council. The service operates to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and CIPFA’s Local Government Application Note to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. The purp...
	3.30 The council also has an effective and professional relationship with the council’s external auditors, and statutory inspectors.
	Counter Fraud Arrangements
	3.31 The council acknowledges the risk of fraud and has put robust arrangements in place to prevent, detect and investigate suspicions or allegations of fraud when they are received.  The Audit and Fraud update reports, presented four times each year ...

	4. Review of Effectiveness of the Governance Framework
	4.1 The council has responsibility for conducting an annual review of the effectiveness of its governance framework, including the system of internal control.  The review is undertaken using the established criteria of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework; ‘Del...
	4.1.1 The continued value and effectiveness of the council’s governance framework suite of documents as defined in the Code of Corporate Governance;
	4.1.2 Reviews carried out by Internal Audit, External Audit and other review bodies which generate reports commenting on the effectiveness of the systems of internal control employed by the council;
	4.1.3 The opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the council’s overall control environment from the Head of Internal Audit;
	4.1.4 The completion of control questionnaires by the Monitoring Officer, Chief Financial Officer (Section 151 Officer) and the Head of Internal Audit; and
	4.1.5 The completion of self-assessment control questionnaires by the Chief Executive, Directors, Assistant Directors, Service Managers and other key managers within the council.

	5. Conclusion
	5.1 In line with the council’s responsibilities for its internal control and overall governance environment (para 1.1), the conclusion to the annual review process for the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the date of approval of the Statement of Acc...
	5.2 Opportunities with which to further enhance the existing governance and control environment are outlined in section six.
	5.3 Overseen by the AGS Assurance Working Group, the findings of the annual review of the governance framework were considered by the council’s Management Team on 28 May 2019 and subsequently reported to Members of the Finance & Audit Committee on 11 ...
	6 Governance controls: Development Plan
	The annual review of the council’s internal control and overall governance environment did not identify any significant issues. The review did however present a small number of opportunities for enhancement of governance arrangements that are outlined...
	Certification by Chair of the Finance & Audit Committee
	I confirm that the 2018-19 Annual Governance Statement has been considered and approved by Gravesham Borough Council at the meeting of the Finance & Audit Committee on 11 June 2019.
	………………………...
	Councillor Gurbax Singh
	Date…………………..
	Endorsement by the Leader of the Executive and the Chief Executive
	……………………….......         ………………………...
	Councillor John Burden         David Hughes
	Leader of the Executive         Chief Executive
	Date………………………         Date………………………



	9 Audit Fee Letter 2019-20
	Gravesham BC 2019-20 fee letter




